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Diagnostics
 ...............................................

Development of highly sensitive 

and specific tests detecting 

DNA methylation for diagnostic 

use such as early screening, monitoring 

and molecular classification.

DNA methylation collaborations

and services to meet the biomarker 

needs of pharma and biotech 

companies in drug development.

Clinical Solutions
 .................................................

Strategic Business Units
 ......................................................................................................................

Epigenomics Group

Key Figures*

 ............................................................................................

2005/2004

EUR thousand unless stated otherwise  2005 2004

Revenue 9,594 7,931

Research and development costs – 8,121 – 7,336

Operating result (EBIT) – 10,234 – 10,351

EBITDA – 8,560 – 8,907

Net loss for the year – 8,788 – 10,975

Average number of shares issued (notional par value: EUR 1) 16,373,948 13,783,653

Earnings per share in EUR (basic) – 0.54 – 0.80

Cash flow total (incl. currency adjustments) – 8,647 13,747

  Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

Liquid assets at balance sheet date (incl. marketable securities) 32,692 41,039

Total equity at balance sheet date 39,375 47,739

Equity ratio in % 87.5 89.6

Total assets at balance sheet date 44,997 53,284

Share price at balance sheet date (in EUR) 6.45 8.67

Number of employees at balance sheet date 141 146

S E AT T L E ,  WA ,  U. S. A.
 B E R L I N ,  G E R M A N Y

*  All 2004 numbers indicated have been restated following the fi rst-time application of IFRS 2 and the amended cost allocation method 

(see notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements).
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In 2005, our Company successfully achieved the major milestone that had been eagerly awaited by all involved with 

Epigenomics. Until revealed, the results of our blinded clinical studies together with our partner Roche were unknown to 

all of us. Even after years of research and development, deblinding the fi nal studies for a lead product is a decisive event 

for a young biotechnology company. Consequently, we were extremely pleased when we were able to conclusively prove 

that our technology is capable to specifi cally detect colon cancer from blood with high sensitivity. With this proof of con-

cept, our technologies have become a robust basis for the development of a larger number of diagnostic products, many of 

which may lead to signifi cant medical benefi ts and thus to substantial market opportunities. We do not intend to pursue 

all our programs on our own, but where appropriate continue to partner commercialization of the large-volume screening 

programs with global leaders in diagnostics.

In accordance with this strategy, we have made important progress in regaining a signifi cant aspect of our indepen-

dence from partners in the area of molecular pathology, into which two of our most advanced programs fall, breast and 

prostate cancer prognostic tests. 2005 was very successful for these programs, despite an inconclusive breast cancer study 

in fall. Not only is the body of evidence supporting the breast cancer test overwhelming, but also its most important bio-

marker has been corroborated in a large study in another indication, prostate cancer prognosis. This validation across indi-

cations led us to base our nascent proprietary program development on this biomarker. As signifi cant clinical research 

work has been done whilst these two products were in the Roche collaboration, we estimate a saving of at least two years 

in taking our own molecular pathology platform and tests to market. 

Also in 2005, we made great progress in establishing our own diagnostic testing platform. Our partnership with 

Qiagen demonstrates our ability to attract partners that are world leaders in their respective fi elds. In 2006, we anticipate 

completing partnering efforts to obtain access to a diagnostic testing device, as well as manufacturing and distribution 

agreements within the next two years. 

Just as important as our product development efforts has been the completion of a management team necessary to 

achieve these goals. Dr. Michael Wandell and James Douglas, responsible for areas of clinical development, quality systems, 

regulatory, marketing & sales, as well as reimbursement, recently joined our senior management team.  Our commercial 

team is now almost exclusively based in Seattle, WA, which will enable us to target the U.S. market fi rst and foremost. As of 

Letter to Shareholders
 ..................................................................................................................................................

Dear shareholders,



January 1, 2006, Christian Piepenbrock was appointed head of our SBU Diagnostics and Chief Operating Offi cer, replacing 

R. Gary Schweikhardt and Aron Braun. This change refl ects an increased focus and consolidation on our internal development 

operations in diagnostics.

Our Pharma Technology business, rebranded “Clinical Solutions”, exceeded our expectations in the past year. 

Christina Dahlstroem, Ph.D., who replaced Christian Piepenbrock as the unit’s head, brings with her all the experience to 

take the unit to breakeven in due course.

As we enter 2006, we are in a strong position with a successful, partnered screening program and a validated pro-

prietary program in high-margin specialty diagnostics for oncology. Our SBU Clinical Solutions is taking our diagnostics 

into clinical trials and is expected to fuel the diagnostics pipeline with new biomarkers as well as enable indication exten-

sions of those that come from other programs. 

We have been faithful to the strategy promised to our investors at the time of our IPO. We are committed to realizing 

our technological promises and foresee converting these into clinical results just as we proposed DNA methylation as a 

commercially useful technology seven years ago. 2005 has been one of the most decisive and milestone-driven years in our 

Company’s history. The year 2006 will see the implementation and execution of our chosen strategy, bringing in a number 

of important partnerships as well as a signifi cant number of clinical study results. 

I would like to thank every stakeholder for his contribution, with the hope that 2006 will continue to see great success 

for our Company.

Sincerely,

Alexander Olek

Chairman of the Executive Board 



Executive Board 
 ......................................................................................................

Alexander Olek, Ph.D. 
CEO (36)

After his studies in mathematics in Buenos Aires, earning 
his Bachelor of Science in biochemistry at the University 
of London and getting his Ph.D. at the Max-Planck-Institute 
for Molecular Genetics in Berlin, Alexander Olek founded 
Epigenomics AG in November 1998 and heads the Company 
as CEO since. He has been awarded for his innovative ideas 
and entrepreneurial spirit several times. 

Dr. Kurt Berlin
CSO (38)

Dr. Kurt Berlin gained his Ph.D. in organic chemistry at the 
University of Bonn, before moving on to Tufts University in 
Boston, MA, and joining the Max-Planck-Institute for Molecular 
Genetics in Berlin in 1997. Dr. Kurt Berlin is with Epigenomics 
since November 1998, leading as CSO the biomedical research 
and development activities. He is also responsible for business 
development as well as intellectual property. 



Christian Piepenbrock 
COO, Head of SBU Diagnostics (38)

Christian Piepenbrock graduated with a diploma in bioinfor-
matics from the University of Bielefeld in 1995 and spent one 
year at Harvard University and the Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology (MIT) before joining the Technical University of 
Berlin where he dealt with neural data processing. Being with 
Epigenomics since November 1998, Christian Piepenbrock 
heads its operating business as well as the SBU Diagnostics.

Oliver Schacht, Ph.D.
CFO; CEO Epigenomics, Inc. (35)

Oliver Schacht earned his diploma in European Business 
Administration from the European School of Business in Reut-
lingen and received his Ph.D. in Management Studies from 
the University of Cambridge (U.K.). Oliver Schacht has been 
with Epigenomics since June 1999. As CFO, he heads account-
ing and fi nance, corporate communications and HR. At the 
beginning of 2006, he also took over the position as CEO of 
Epigenomics, Inc., Seattle. 
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During the fi nancial year 2005, the Supervisory Board fulfi lled all its tasks according to legal requirements and the Articles 

of Association. The Supervisory Board advised and supported the Executive Board in managing the Company. The basis for 

this was formed by the detailed reports of the Executive Board during the Supervisory Board’s meetings. The business situ-

ation and the prospects for the development of the Company as well as its individual strategic business units described in 

the reports were subject of thorough discussions. Additionally, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the Chairman 

of the Executive Board maintained a constant exchange of information and ideas. Thus, the Supervisory Board was kept con-

tinuously informed about the Company’s business strategy, corporate planning including fi nancial, capital investment and 

human resources planning, as well as the general performance of business.

The documents relating to the Executive Board’s decisions or actions that require Supervisory Board approval were 

inspected by the Supervisory Board at its plenary meetings – usually prepared by its relevant committees – or were approved 

on the basis of documents circulated to its members.

An important challenge for the Supervisory Board was its new composition. As already communicated during 

Epigenomics’ IPO, John Berriman, Dr. Jörg Neermann and Dr. Michael Steinmetz resigned at the end of the fi rst Annual 

General Shareholders’ Meeting held as a public company. Also, as announced during the preparation of the IPO, Dr. Klaus 

Stöckemann resigned at the last day of the lock-up period, i.e. 180 days after the IPO. The new members – Professor Dr. Dr. 

Uwe Bicker, who on May 2, 2005, has already become a member of the Supervisory Board by resolution of the Local 

Court (Amtsgericht) Berlin-Charlottenburg, Dr. Ann Clare Kessler and Professor Dr. Günther Reiter – have been extensively 

discussed for election or re-election by the Supervisory Board and confi rmed at the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting 

on June 28, 2005. 

The Supervisory Board also discussed and agreed to the new corporate governance principles of Epigenomics. Both 

the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board believe that the commitment to corporate governance is an important 

measure for enhancing the confi dence of current and future shareholders, corporate partners and employees. The Company 

has committed itself to the German Corporate Governance Code, and in some cases adopted principles going even beyond 

those legally required.

During the course of the fi nancial year 2005, fi ve Supervisory Board meetings with the Company’s Executive Board 

took place. The work of the Supervisory Board was supported by its two committees: The Audit and Corporate Governance 

Committee and the Personnel and Compensation Committee. 

Report of the 
Supervisory Board

 ..............................................................................................................................

Dear shareholders,



The auditing company UHY Deutschland AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin, has audited the annual fi nancial 

statements of Epigenomics AG for fi scal 2005 in compliance with the principles of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 

as well as the consolidated fi nancial statements and the related notes for fi scal 2005 according to International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) including the management reports. The auditing company did not raise any objections for 

both fi nancial statements and issued unqualifi ed opinions. The Supervisory Board accepted and confi rmed the results of 

the audit. Following its own review, the Supervisory Board adopted the annual fi nancial statements and approved the 

consolidated fi nancial statements as of December 31, 2005, without exception and modifi cation in its meeting of March 7, 

2006, in the presence of the auditor. According to section 172 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the annual 

fi nancial statements of Epigenomics AG are thus adopted.

With regard to the existing risk management system as the Company’s early warning system, the auditor stated that 

in his opinion the system is suitable to meet all legal requirements.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Executive Board, the senior management as well as all employees for 

their commitment and efforts during the fi scal year 2005.

 The Supervisory Board would like to express special thanks to its former members Dr. Jörg Neermann, Dr. Michael 

Steinmetz and Dr. Klaus Stöckemann as well as to the former members of the Executive Board Aron Braun and R. Gary 

Schweikhardt for their contribution to a good and successful cooperation. 

Berlin, March 2006

Professor Dr. Dr. h.c. Rolf Krebs

Chairman of the Supervisory Board



We identify and develop biomarkers in oncology based on our DNA methylation 

technology. Tumor tissue classifi cation tests are currently being developed and will 

be commercialized on our own testing system. We outlicense our blood tests for 

cancer screening for commercialization through our strategic partners.

 ................................................................

P R E A N A LY T I C S  K I T

C

 ................................................................

M E T H Y L AT I O N  M A R K E R  T E S T  K I T

 ................................................................

D E T E C T I O N  D E V I C E  P L AT F O R M
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What have been the key 
achievements? Epigenomics has 

turned its vision into reality by demon-

strating the use of DNA methylation 

to fi nd between half and two-thirds1 

of all colon cancers at early stages 

in blood with very few false positive 

results2. Proof-of-concept for the ap-

proach has successfully been demon-

strated in three large clinical studies 

analysing approximately 2,000 patient 

samples. The fi rst marker for the detec-

tion of colon cancer has been licensed 

to Roche worldwide exclusively for an 

undisclosed milestone payment in Q4 

of 2005. 

Also, Epigenomics has demon-

strated the use of DNA methylation 

markers in standard paraffi n embedded 

tissues to classify prostate and breast 

cancer patients into sub-groups that 

might benefi t from different treatment 

regimens. Following several successful 

studies in breast cancer we have also 

had one study with inconclusive results 

in fall of 2005. By the end of 2005, we 

successfully fi nished another tissue-

based study in over 600 patient sam-

ples to classify prostate cancers into 

more or less aggressive ones. 

Furthermore, we have started 

building our own DNA methylation 

testing system for own products by 

Diagnostics
......................................................................................................................................................................

SBU DIAGNOSTICS MEETS MAJOR CLINICAL MILESTONE. In our Diagnostics business 

we follow two distinct approaches: Collaborating on the development of blood-

based screening products with Roche Diagnostics as our key partner and at the 

same time developing our own tissue-based molecular pathology tests for indica-

tions such as prostate and breast cancer classifi cation/treatment response.

1  Depending on the study, sensitivity reached 51 %, 65 % to 50 %, respectively
2  Specifi city was fi xed in all studies at 95 %

...................................................................................................................................

M A R K E T  P O T E N T I A L S

Blood-based test

170 million
people > 50 years

> 1 billion
EUR per year
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partnering with Qiagen for preana-

lytics and evaluating several potential 

detection platforms for Epigenomics’ 

own product development.

As of early 2006, Epigenomics 

has also initiated an early stage clinical 

research program in endometriosis 

but terminated the research program 

on a NHL monitoring test.

What are our business model 
and target markets in diagnos-
tics? We discover, identify, validate 

and clinically develop biomarkers in 

oncology indi cations and eventually 

other major diseases. 

For blood-based cancer screen-

ing tests we collaborate early on in 

R&D and eventually license them to 

our partners (e.g. Roche Diagnostics) 

for clinical development and commer-

cialization. Analysts estimate that each 

of the blood-based cancer screening 

tests could potentially achieve peak 

sales in the hundreds of millions of 

euros p.a. with an overall early cancer 

detection market in the billions based 

on a population of approximately 

170 million people over the age of 

50 in major market countries. 

Typically, tissue-based tests will 

address populations of a few hundred 

thousand cancer patients and market 

estimates range from a few tens of 

millions to maybe 150 – 200 million 

euros peak sales potential depending 

on the indication. Therefore, we at 

Epige nomics develop the latter type 

of tissue-based diagnostic products 

based on our DNA methylation testing 

system ourselves. We have the option 

of commercializing these ourselves or 

partnering at a later stage for sales 

and distribution. In such development 

we will work closely with OEM part-

ners for important components such as 

the preanalytics and testing devices.

What is the status of our deal 
with Roche? We have successfully 

licensed the colon cancer early detec-

tion test to Roche. Throughout 2006 

we are jointly working on improve-

ments of the workfl ow and assays, and 

Epigenomics works to identify and 

develop additional biomarkers for even 

better sensitivity in detecting colon 

cancer from blood plasma. During 

2006, Roche will commence to transfer 

the marker and technologies onto 

Roche Diagnostics’ platforms in 2006. 

Research for the breast cancer screen-

ing and prostate cancer screening test 

is still ongoing. To that end, both part-

ners have extended the research term 

of the alliance until the end of Q1-

2006 with an option to extend it by 

another 18 months at that stage. 

What advantages does our 
methylation approach have in 
diagnostics? DNA methylation bio-

markers allow for the early detection 

of disease from blood or other body 

fl uids and, e.g., the assessment of 

tumor aggressiveness from archived, 

paraffi n-embedded tissue samples 

for the selection of the right treatment. 

Especially for large population screen-

ing there are unique advantages in 

terms of convenience, expected patient 

compliance, excellent specifi city for 

individual diagnostic questions and 

highly competitive sensitivity.

Methylation is measured on stable 

DNA, which allows amplifying the 

signal for robust detection. DNA methy-

lation on specifi c genes is associated 

with either the presence of disease 

(like e.g. colon cancer) or aggressive-

ness of a disease (like prostate cancer). 

Cancer patients

Cancer specifi c marker test kit

Healthy people

DNA methylation analysis

Tumor sample

Blood draw
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How would DNA methylation 
markers be tested? For our cancer 

early detection tests, blood samples 

will be taken and sent to a diagnostic 

lab. The lab will use a Roche Diagnos-

tics molecular testing machine and a 

Roche Diagnostics test kit with reagents 

to extract the DNA and measure 

Epige nomics’ markers when the test 

gets launched. For our molecular 

classifi cation tests, a sample as usually 

taken during tumor surgery or by 

needle-biopsy will get tested for 

Epigenomics’ markers in a pathology 

or diagnostic lab.

Expected key developments 
for 2006 and beyond? Over the 

next several quarters we expect to iden-

tify and develop additional biomarkers 

for better detection of colon cancer 

from plasma. We also intend to initiate 

formal clinical development for pros-

tate and breast cancer molecular classi-

fi cation testing. Epigenomics strives to 

demonstrate the value of our proprie-

tary DNA methylation marker PITX2 in 

these two indications and expand its 

use into other cancer indications.

There are two target groups: Healthy 
people who come for regular blood-
based screening to detect cancer at 
the earliest possible stage and there 
are the cancer patients who look for 
the right treatment selection based 
on diagnostic testing of their tumor 
samples.

Product Pipeline Clinical 
Marker Validation

Transfer 
& Test Kit 
Development

Clinical 
Trial

Regulatory 
Approval 

Marketing 
& Sales

Prostate Cancer Classifi cation Test

Colon Cancer Screening Test

Prostate Cancer Screening Test

Breast Cancer Screening Test

Status: February 2006

Roche

Roche

Roche

not 
partnered

Clinical 
Marker Discovery

BIOPSY
PROSTATECTOMY

Own Products Tissue Tests

Blood Screening Tests

Breast Cancer Classifi cation Test/ 
Tamoxifen Treatment Response Test

not 
partnered

Epigenomics’ testing system Predict aggressiveness

Select treatment

D I A G N O S I S

Partners’ testing system Detect cancer

Decide to treat

D I A G N O S I S



Our strategy in the Clinical Solutions business unit is to more effectively meet 

our pharma and biotech customers‘ needs by expanding the range of biomarker 

technologies and services we offer; in particular we would like to emphasize our 

expertise in tumor sample specifi cation, acquisition, management and analysis.

 ................................................................

S A M P L E  M A N A G E M E N T

 ................................................................

T R E AT M E N T 

 ................................................................

B I O M A R K E R  T E C H N O L O G I E S
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What advantages does DNA 
methylation have? Our approach 

to developing these biomarkers has 

several unique competitive advantages. 

DNA is generally considered as a more 

stable analyte than mRNA. This allows 

us to make the best use of available 

paraffi n-embedded tissue samples 

taken in the clinical routine for bio-

marker development and application. 

Further, tumor-specifi c DNA methyl-

ation patterns can be picked up from 

tumor DNA shed to the blood or other 

body fl uids. Thus, in cases where 

tissue samples are not easily available 

to measure the biomarkers, assays 

working with body fl uid samples can 

be developed. 

What competitive advantages 
does Epigenomics have? We 

have built a global network of fore-

most methylation experts amongst 

our advisors. Epigenomics has sub-

stantial expertise in oncology with 

dozens of collaborating institutions 

with whom we work to collect tumor 

samples for biomarker analyses. Over 

several years, Epigenomics has gained 

substantial expertise in tumor tissue 

collection techniques and require-

ments. This allows us to effectively ad-

dress a key customer need: Pharma 

companies today often fi nd it diffi cult 

to collect tumor samples in their clini-

cal trials as this has only become a 

necessity with the advent of biomarker 

strategies in oncology drug develop-

ment. We intend to leverage our advan-

tage to govern selected sites to man-

age tumor sample needs. 

Clinical Solutions
 ..............................................................................................................................

SBU PHARMA TECHNOLOGY BECOMES SBU CLINICAL SOLUTIONS. We identify and 

develop biomarkers that support physicians’ decisions on the best therapy for 

each patient. We work closely with pharma and biotech companies to integrate 

the development of these predictive biomarkers into drug development and 

life cycle management. This will help to focus drug development on the right 

patient population and increase the chances of individual patients to respond 

to the drugs administered to them.

 ..............................................

B I O M A R K E R 

A P P L I C AT I O N S 

Target 
Expression

MOA/PD

Disease/
Prognosis

Treatment
Monitoring

Treatment
Prediction
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Marker Discovery Global Experts Network Sample Management 

Also in 2005, we established another 

DNA methylation marker discovery 

technology: Differential methylation 

hybridization (DMH). This technology 

enables the methylation analyses of 

50,000 positions in the human ge-

nome. DMH allows identifying pro-

prietary, predictive response markers 

on a series of selected samples in a 

time- and cost-effi cient way early in 

drug development. Thus, DMH com-

plements Epigenomics’ technology 

portfolio for systematic and stream-

lined biomarker discovery and vali-

dation synchronized with drug develop-

ment. The much increased overall 

visibility and validation of DNA methyl-

ation approaches across the scientifi c 

community and life science industry 

puts Epigenomics in a favourable pos-

ition to attract further partners.

Conclusion: Rather than offering an 

isolated service, Epigenomics is ideally 

positioned to provide integrated and 

comprehensive Clinical Solutions.

Who would benefit from our 
expanded biomarker program? 

Pharma and biotech companies 

who would be able to develop 

focused oncology therapies …

…  which have a higher chance of 

reaching the market 

…  which benefi t patients

…  which avoid unnecessary costs to 

healthcare systems and

…  which get society one step closer 

to personalized medicine.

Pharma and biotech companies 

who would be able to develop 

focused oncology therapies …

…  which have a higher chance of 

reaching the market 

…  which benefi t patients

…  which avoid unnecessary costs to 

healthcare systems and

…  which get society one step closer 

to personalized medicine.

We demonstrated the value 
of methylation biomarkers to 
many collaboration partners:

•   Biomarker research in lung cancer 

with Astra Zeneca 

•   Successful completion of cell line 

and xenograft studies with Pfi zer

•   Successful completion of candidate 

gene study for Biogen Idec

•   Studying smoking-induced effects 

on methylation for Philip Morris, 

demonstrating broader applicability 

of our biomarker approach to environ-

mental effects

....................................................

EPIGENOMICS’ 

COLLABORATION PARTNERS TO DATE 

AstraZeneca

biogen idec

MethylGene

Pfizer

Philip Morris

Qiagen

Roche

Wyeth
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Marker Analysis Marker Development Treatment Decision

All of our partners retain full control 

over their drug development plans 

whereas Epigenomics delivers the clini-

cal biomarker solutions and, in the 

future, could provide site management 

in oncology trials that ensure optimal 

conditions for experienced tumor sam-

ple collection and biomarker analysis. 

We value all our collaboration partners 

and wish to continue along the phar-

macodiagnostic biomarker develop-

ment and test development path.

 

How do we intend to leverage 
our success? We have shown that 

DNA methylation is an excellent source 

of biomarkers for response prediction 

and outcome prediction. To that end 

we will focus our clinical biomarker 

portfolio towards current and future 

pharma, biotech and other collabora-

tion partners in our new SBU Clinical 

Solutions. All product development 

work, including pharmacodiagnostic 

test development will be managed 

in our SBU Diagnostics going forward.

We intend to expand ongoing collab-

orative relationships as well as initiate 

new partnerships that help pharma 

and biotech companies increase the 

value of their drugs through biomarker 

strategies that enhance registerability 

and marketability. We plan to increase 

the breadth of our offerings to become 

the preferred solution and service pro-

vider and development partner for 

pharma and biotech companies. We 

will drive towards expanding our cus-

tomer base wherever DNA methylation 

and/or other biomarkers are helpful. 

Over the years to come, our SBU Clini-

cal Solutions could turn into an engine 

for identifying and assessing pharma-

codiagnostic product development 

opportunities, which could then be 

transferred into the Diagnostics busi-

ness for actual test development work.

Epigenomics’ Clinical Solutions 
integrated offerings.

By leveraging Epigenomics’ leading 
expertise in methylation biomarkers 
with its established global network 
of leading clinical oncologists and 
pathologists, Epigenomics is able to 
offer cutting-edge solutions ranging 
from biomarker discovery and devel-
opment to biomarker applications 
for treatment decisions.



Epigenomics focuses on partnering high-volume blood-based screening tests, 

developing its own high-margined tissue-based classifi cation tests, offering 

integrated biomarker solutions and establishing a gold standard via out-licensing.

Diagnostics Screening 

 Tests (Partnered)

Clinical Solutions Out-licensing

L I C E N S E

Own Product 

Development



17Strategy and Business Model

Strategy and 
Business Model

 ........................................................................................................................................

Molecular diagnostics is a multi-billion euro market opportunity with the 

greatest future growth expected to be driven by oncology tests. We follow 

an integrated strategy and business model of partnering our blood-based 

screening tests and development of our own tissue-based molecular diagnostic 

products in our SBU Diagnostics. Clinical Solutions (formerly Pharma Tech-

nology) offers integrated biomarker solutions, and we aim at establishing 

a gold standard in DNA methylation via out-licensing.

Partnering blood-based screening tests. Our R&D 

and licensing collaboration with Roche Diagnostics con-

tinues to be one of the important cornerstones of our corpor-

ate strategy. The goal of the collaboration is to develop 

convenient, blood-based molecular diagnostic tests for the 

screening and early detection of major cancers, such as 

colon, prostate and breast cancer. The target population for 

our screening products is currently expected to be asympto-

matic men and/or women and hence these tests potentially 

address tens of millions of individuals for each of the major 

markets such as the U.S., Europe and Japan. Given that such 

a huge market potential and the complexity of issues like 

global marketing, sales and distribution, reimbursement, 

consumer awareness, placement of diagnostic testing 

platforms capable of analyzing large numbers of patient 

samples etc. goes well beyond the capabilities of a small 

biotech company such as Epigenomics, the strategy has 

been and remains one of partnering.

Such a partnering-based business model implies 

that the way Epigenomics generates revenue and ultimately 

profi ts in the long term is based on R&D payments, reim-

bursements, and milestone payments during product de-

velopment and royalties on our partners’ net sales once the 

products are being sold in the market. The royalty compo-

nents constitute a large portion of the value to Epige nomics 

both today and in the medium to long term.

Following the successful clinical studies and proof-of-

concept in colorectal cancer screening in blood, Roche 

has now obtained a worldwide exclusive license to the colon 

cancer biomarker panel. Thus, the next product develop-

ment steps are under Roche’s control. Nonetheless, it is part 

of Epigenomics’ commitment to play an active role in cer-
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tain aspects of further clinical development and to work on 

enhancements of the product. 

As far as additional blood-based screening tests are 

concerned, we continue to view R&D and commercial-

ization alliances as the best way to move these forward and 

we are committed to the success of our Roche Diagnostics 

partnership. However, we are also free to enter molecular 

diagnostic cooperative relationships with other partners.

Epigenomics’ strategy for getting its biomarker panel 

into the clinical routine includes working with opinion 

leaders and with Roche to establish DNA methylation-based 

products, possibly in a reference laboratory even before 

launch as a diagnostic test kit.

Developing own products. Our strategy for own 

product development builds on creating the organizational 

infrastructure and developing the required expertise in-

house. Therefore, we have expanded our senior manage-

ment team with the addition of a Senior Vice President 

Clinical, Regulatory and Quality Affairs in mid 2005, started 

implementation of a fully integrated quality management 

system with medical device design control, and have built in-

ternal teams to support the development of own products. 

Early 2006, we brought on board an experienced Senior Vice 

President Marketing & Sales who will initially focus on the 

strategic aspects of platform selection, building the required 

marketing mind-set at Epigenomics to allow optimal selec-

tion of sales and distribution channels and future partner-

ships as we get our fi rst products closer to approval in 

Europe and the U.S.A.

Our own product development strategy is based 

on having full control over the entire process of clinical 

vali dation and clinical development, as well as regulatory 

approval, and positioning of the products. At the same 

time, we expect to work closely with OEM (original equip-

ment manufacturing) partners for key components of our 

overall product. Both the patient sample processing kits 

as well as the IVD testing devices will be manufactured for 

Epige nomics. We do not currently envision Epigenomics 

to build manufacturing capacities.

In terms of commercialization, distribution, and sales, 

all options are open to Epigenomics. In our strategy develop-

ment we are evaluating options such as offering a testing 

service, providing reagents to reference laboratories and 

whether or not – once approved as a diagnostic test – to 

sell the products ourselves in certain geographies or to part-

ners with companies that have the sales and distribution 

power.

Our product pipeline plans have evolved considerably 

in 2005 and will continue to evolve as new opportunities 

emerge. In the near future, cancer classifi cation tests will con-

tinue to be the main focus. Product development priorities 

have changed with the emergence of PITX2 as a unique, pro-

prietary cancer marker. PITX2 has been shown in several 

of our clinical studies to be a very robust predictor of tumor 

aggressiveness in prostate, breast and potentially a number 

of other hormone-dependent malignancies.

Therefore, the primary focus of product development 

will be two tissue-based tests directed at prostate and breast 

cancer molecular classifi cation, leveraging DNA methylation 

markers and assays that already have signifi cant clinical vali-

dation. 

Our fi rst research program outside of oncology is 

a potential diagnostic test for endometriosis, a disease of 

younger women that is heavily under-diagnosed and 

affects several million women in major market countries. 

New customers and collaborations in Clinical 
Solutions. In order to focus our efforts in the fi eld of 

pharmacodiagnostic (PDx) biomarker solutions, we have 

shifted responsibility for all in vitro diagnostic (IVD) test 

development to our SBU Diagnostics. Our SBU Clinical Sol-

utions (formerly Pharma Technology) is now exclusively 

geared towards identifying and addressing biomarker iden-

tifi cation and development needs at pharma, biotech and 

clinical research organizations (CRO). To that end, we have 

streamlined and standardized our solutions offered. At 

the same time, we maintain our commitment to collabor-

ative R&D programs with our current and future partners. 

Starting in 2006, the new name and identity of our business 

Strategy and Business Model
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unit  “SBU Clinical Solutions” underscores this strategic 

commitment. We expect our SBU Clinical Solutions to evolve 

into an engine that fuels our growth and product pipeline 

over the medium to longer term.

In the short term, the strategy is clearly geared towards 

generating profi table business from collaborative biomarker 

R&D programs for continued revenue growth. The strategy 

will continue to include tailor-made biomarker projects 

based on DNA methylation developed in collaboration with 

major pharma as well as biotech and other industrial com-

panies. Extending and expanding existing pharma partner-

ships remains a key strategic priority.

However, we will add to that more standardized clinical 

solutions in DNA methylation discovery and analyses, pre-

validated panels of important oncology markers, as well as 

complementing our proposals with analysis of non-methyl-

ation biomarkers when required to complete our offering. 

This is aimed at signifi cantly broadening and expanding the 

customer base from DNA methylation-based biomarkers to 

include those who seek comprehensive genomic pathway 

analysis services. Recent cases such as the much publicized 

FDA-required labeling changes for Iressa® have highlighted 

to pharma companies the importance and potential impact 

of not including biomarker work into the clinical trials for 

oncology drugs and not having them available at market 

launch.

In summary, two parts to this strategy add value to 

Epigenomics: short-term there is a profi table and growing 

solutions-driven business that delivers attractive margins; 

and in the long run, there is the opportunity to identify 

profi table product development opportunities, fuelling a 

growing pipeline of own products. This strategy provides 

the opportunity to share risks and rewards through the 

funding of early R&D by means of the solutions partner-

ships.

Setting standards by out-licensing. Epigenomics 

has initiated a strategy of leveraging its broad intellectual 

property portfolio by granting certain licenses to research 

products for preanalytics and real-time PCR detection to 

Qiagen. We plan to expand this opportunity by aggressively 

pursuing a strategy of establishing de facto standards in 

DNA methylation by making available nonexclusive licenses 

to several of our core technologies in areas that do not 

impede our ability to develop products with our partners 

or on our own.

Amongst the technologies we expect to offer under our 

“Open Access” out-licensing initiative are certain bisulfi te 

patents and detection of DNA methylation with micro arrays. 

Also, we plan to use our exclusive access to the MethyLight 

patent for real-time PCR detection and our proprietary “HM 

Sensitive Detection Technology” to enable other diagnos-

tics players by granting segment-specifi c sublicenses.

The strategy has a short-term cash generation and 

revenue component as well as a medium- to long-term ele-

ment of benefi ting from other companies’ molecular diag-

nostics successes in the form of royalties on their products 

based on our licensed DNA methylation technologies. It 

further has the potential to establish our DNA methylation 

analysis technology as the industry standard.

Strategy and Business Model
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In 2005, we have focused on the following areas of R&D 

work:

Blood sample work flow and assay technologies. 
In 2005, two breakthroughs in the sensitive cancer detec-

tion fi eld have been achieved. We successfully proved that 

Epigenomics’ technologies enable the detection of free 

fl oating cancerous DNA in blood plasma from colon cancer 

patients. We thereby demonstrated that DNA methylation 

markers have been identifi ed which can specifi cally detect 

this DNA in a background of DNA from other organs using 

Epigenomics’ proprietary HM assay technology.

Research & 
Development

......................................................................................................................................................................

Epigenomics’ core R&D programs remained focused on improving key areas 

of our DNA methylation biomarker machine: optimizing remote (body-fl uid) 

sample testing as well as tissue-based testing methods in paraffi n samples, 

portfolio management of our intellectual property, and establishing the high-

throughput infrastructure for our clinical studies. The Epigenomics R&D team 

comprises 113 employees with over 30 holding Ph.D. degrees or equivalents.

................................................................................

Total number of granted patents per Dec. 31

2005

>50
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Tissue (paraffin) sample work flow. DNA methyla-

tion analysis in paraffi n-embedded tissue samples remains 

challenging due to the limited control over sample prepa-

ration and quality as these have often been archived many 

years ago. In 2005, we signifi cantly increased the sample 

processing throughput for paraffi n-embedded tissue samples 

by releasing new protocols for DNA extraction and bisulfi te 

conversion, which use 96 well plates instead of single tubes. 

In the prostate MCT training set study the new protocols 

were successfully applied to the identifi cation of marker 

candidates in paraffi n-embedded prostatectomy tissue 

samples.

New methylation discovery technology (DMH) 
established. We have successfully applied DMH (Differ-

ential Methylation Hybridization) to marker candidate iden-

tifi cation on cell lines and breast cancer tissue samples using 

a fi rst layout of customized microarrays from Affymetrix. 

Marker candidates are further explored using independent 

methylation analysis techniques. A second-generation micro-

array covering more than 50,000 genomic regions, which 

potentially carry methylation information has been designed 

and is currently being tested with the goal to be released 

into the routine process early 2006.

Platform feasibility studies. In collaboration with 

commercial partners, the preanalytical and analytical com-

ponents of Epigenomics’ own products platform is in the 

process of defi ning its specifi cations. First prototypes of kits 

and instruments have been tested using model systems. 

For 2006, we envision to perform fi rst clinical studies using 

such platform components.

Intellectual property portfolio. At Epigenomics, we 

have developed, built and inlicensed by far the most com-

prehensive portfolio of DNA methylation-related intellectual 

property worldwide. Our IP covers all aspects and elements 

of the biomarker value chain in molecular diagnostics and 

pharmacodiagnostics. 

Epigenomics’ patent portfolio contains over 170 own 

patent applications and more than 30 inlicensed patent 

families. During 2005, more than 20 new patent applications 

were fi led, including several that contain proprietary bio-

markers for our diagnostic products under development.

In 2005, the overall maturity of the portfolio has in-

creased substantially with several important patent grants 

in the areas of microarrays, bisulfi te and real-time PCR de-

tection to name but a few. A total of 21 patents were grant-

ed in one or more countries, compared to just 13 the year 

before, an almost 50 % increase. Thereby, the total number 

of granted patents now exceeds 50.

R&D infrastructure and medical network. An 

integral part of our corporate R&D infrastructure is our 

global network of academic and medical partners, focusing 

on medical/sample network expansion and multi-center 

studies. The partners are from several European countries 

and the U.S., including such renowned institutions as 

Charité, Technische Universität München, Baylor College of 

Medicine or Mayo Clinic. All have their main focus in on-

cology with a large network in breast cancer and increasing 

ones in other main cancer indications.

All patient samples as well as all biomarker data are 

stored in an integrated lab information and management 

system (LIMS) and enable effi cient storage, tracking, quality 

control and analysis of all data. During 2005, various 

internal and external audits were conducted on our high-

throughput processes in view to identifying needs for fur-

ther improvement towards running facilities and processes 

in line with regulatory requirements in the future.

Research & Development





 “The success of our 

 products depends 

both on the results we achieve as 

well as on the timeliness of its 

development. We are committed to 

bringing innovative products to the 

market, products that not only 

exceed our customers expectations 

but also our own.”

Dr. Michael Wandell
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT CLINICAL 

AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS & QUALITY 

MANAGEMENT, SEATTLE 
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To us as members of the Executive Board and the Super visory 

Board “Corporate Governance” is the essence of respon sible 

and ethical management at Epigenomics, meaning very 

close and regular communication with the Supervisory Board 

and its committees aimed at generating long-term value to 

our shareholders. Openness and transparency in our cor-

porate communi cations towards all shareholders, employees, 

the general public, and other stakeholders are the guiding 

principle.

Corporate governance has been an important focus 

throughout 2005 for all of us at Epigenomics and there-

fore we welcome the German Corporate Governance Code 

and its recent amendments. We systematically and regu-

larly check compliance with the German corporate govern-

ance principles making amendments wherever possible 

to ensure fair and responsible corporate management ac-

cording to the new and amended version of the German 

Corporate Governance Code.  

Epigenomics’ corporate governance principles in 

some instances go beyond the requirements of law and the 

recommendations of the German Code. For example, we 

have established binding internal guidelines on insider trad-

ing and made these part of all employment agreements. 

We have appointed a Corporate Governance Compliance 

Offi cer to ensure best practice is adhered to. The Com-

pliance Offi cer is required to submit regular compliance 

reports to the Executive Board which are then passed on to 

the Supervisory Board. All 2005 reports confi rmed Epige-

nomics to be in line with corporate governance principles.

There are some notable exceptions where based on 

existing contracts and corporate plans put in place as a 

publicly quoted company certain peculiarities lead to devi-

ations from the German Corporate Governance Code, 

which are detailed below. There is a clear commitment to 

fully adhere to the Code going forward, e.g. with any 

potential future stock option plans.

Corporate Governance
 ..................................................................................................................................................
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D E C L A R AT I O N  O F  C O M P L I A N C E 
W I T H  T H E  G E R M A N  C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E  C O D E  P U R S U A N T  T O 

S E C T I O N  1 6 1  O F  T H E  G E R M A N  S T O C K  C O R P O R AT I O N  A C T  ( A K T G )
......................................................................................................................................................................

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
of Epigenomics AG hereby declare that since the 
last statement of compliance in December 2004, 
Epigenomics AG has complied with the recom-
mendations of the German Government Commis-
sion on the Corporate Governance Code in the 
version of May 21, 2003, and June 2, 2005, respect-
ively, and will comply with the recommen dations 
of the German Government Commission on the 
Corporate Governance Code in the version of June 
2, 2005, with the following exemptions, partly 
due to specific corporate particularities:

Section 3.8 Paragraph 2. 
The D&O (directors’ & officers’) liability insurance 
taken out by Epigenomics AG for its Executive 
Board and Supervisory Board members includes 
a deductible. However, we think a deductible is 
not a precondition for responsible management; 
responsible management rather is a self-evident 
duty of all board members. Therefore, the “ade-
quacy” of the amount of a deductible is not of 
particular importance. Accordingly, we did not 
and will not comply with the recommendation in 
Section 3.8. paragraph 2 regarding the adequacy 
of the deductible. 

Section 4.2.3 Paragraph 2. 
The stock options granted to Executive Board 
members in the past were not related to relevant 
comparison parameters. With regard to existing 
stock option programs a retroactive change of 
performance targets is not excluded, and for extra-
ordinary, unforeseen developments a pos sibility 
of limitation (cap) has not been agreed upon. The 
stock option programs underlying the grant of 
options have been established prior to the Com-
pany’s listing and were disclosed in detail in the 
offering circular. We think that the responsibility 
and motivation of Executive Board members are 
not improved by referring to comparison para-
meters and that a possibility of limitation (cap) is 

not necessary due to the structure of the existing 
stock option programs. The Annual General Share-
holders’ Meeting would need to resolve upon a 
retroactive amendment of the performance tar-
gets (which is not intended). Therefore, the afore-
mentioned recommendations pursuant to Section 
4.2.3 paragraph 2 of the Code were not adhered 
to with regard to stock options granted in the past 
and with regard to existing stock option programs 
and will only be implemented with regard to a 
new stock option plan.

Section 5.1.2 Paragraph 2. 
An age limit for members of the Executive Board 
has not been specified. Such a general limit could 
restrict the members of the Supervisory Board in 
their selection of particularly qualified and experi-
enced candidates. From our point of view, age is 
not necessarily an adequate criterion for the dis-
qualification of candidates. Furthermore, the age 
structure of the Executive Board does not suggest 
the adoption of an age limit within the foresee-
able future. Accordingly, we did not and will not 
comply with the recommendation in Section 5.1.2 
paragraph 2 regarding an age limit for members 
of the Executive Board.

Section 5.4.1 Paragraph 2. 
Due to the aforementioned reasons, an age limit 
for members of the Supervisory Board has neither 
been specified. An age limit would inappropri-
ately narrow the shareholders’ right to elect the 
members of the Supervisory Board. Accordingly, 
we did not and will not comply with the recom-
mendation in Section 5.4.1 sentence 2 regarding 
an age limit for members of the Supervisory 
Board.

Section 5.4.7 Paragraph 1. 
The Company adheres to the recommendation 
in Section 5.4.7 paragraph 1 concerning compen-
sation for committee work with the exception 

that there will be no separate compensation for 
the mere membership in committees apart from 
presidency. Since the committee work is evenly 
distributed among the members of the Super-
visory Board, a differentiated compensation 
appears not necessary regarding the bare mem-
bership in committees. 

Section 5.4.7 Paragraph 2. 
The compensation of the Supervisory Board 
members contains no performance-related com-
ponent. A performance-related compensation 
would not lead to an additional increase in incen-
tive or motivation. The adoption of performance-
related compensation components in the future 
shall be subject of a future decision of the Annual 
General Shareholders’ Meeting, as the case may be. 

Berlin, December 2005

The Supervisory Board 

The Executive Board
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E X E C U T I V E  B O A R D  A N D 
S U P E RV I S O RY  B O A R D

................................................................................

Executive Board. Following the resignation of Aron 

Braun (former COO) for personal reasons and the retirement 

of R. Gary Schweikhardt (former Head of SBU Diagnostics 

and CEO of Epigenomics, Inc., Seattle, U.S.A.), the Executive 

Board of Epigenomics AG now consists of four members, 

namely Alexander Olek, Ph.D. (CEO), Dr. Kurt Berlin (CSO), 

Christian Piepenbrock (COO) and Oliver Schacht, Ph.D. 

(CFO). The Executive Board is responsible for independently 

managing and running operations, developing and imple-

menting corporate strategy, fi nancial and budgetary plan-

ning, appointing and guiding senior management and over-

seeing the gen eral management of the Company. There is 

an ongoing regular and very interactive dialog between the 

Executive Board and the Supervisory Board. In its charter, 

the Executive Board has a clear set of rules for certain actions 

and decisions that require Supervisory Board approval as 

well as defi ned reporting and information guidelines.

In line with fair and open disclosure and the require-

ments of the Prime Standard segment of the Frankfurt Stock 

Exchange, quarterly fi nancial reports are made available 

within 60 days of a quarter’s end and annual fi nancial state-

ments within 90 days of year-end. All information is available 

simultaneously on our website www.epigenomics.com. 

All material news are announced following the latest guide-

lines and legal requirements on ad hoc notifi cation.

Supervisory Board. Epigenomics AG’s Supervisory Board 

consists of six members, namely Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. Rolf Krebs 

(Chairman), Bruce Carter, Ph.D. (Deputy Chairman), John 

Berriman, Prof. Dr. Dr. Uwe Bicker, Prof. Dr. Günther Reiter, 

and Dr. Ann Clare Kessler, all with extensive experience 

in the pharmaceutical, biotech and fi nancial industries. 

Following the resignation of Dr. Klaus Stöckemann, Dr. Jörg 

Neermann and Dr. Michael Steinmetz, all members are inde-

pendent from investors. By appointment of the Local Court 

(Amtsgericht) Berlin-Charlottenburg and election at the  

Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting held on June 28, 

2005, several new members have joined the Supervisory 

Board in 2005: Prof. Dr. Dr. Uwe Bicker, Dr. Ann Clare Kessler, 

and Prof. Dr. Günther Reiter.

The Supervisory Board of Epigenomics AG has formed 

two committees: fi rst, an Audit and Corporate Governance 

Committee assisting the Supervisory Board in approving all 

fi nancial statements, commissioning the auditor, choos-

ing appropriate topics for the main focus of the audit, deter-

mining the audit fees, and ensuring the independent status 

of the auditor as well as all aspects of corporate governance. 

Second, a Personnel and Compensation Committee dealing 

with all aspects of Executive Board members’ compensation 

as well as preparing other compensation-related decisions 

that require Supervisory Board approval.

The Supervisory Board, upon discussion with the Execu-

tive Board, also sets the strategic, fi nancial and business 

goals for each fi scal year that form the basis for measuring 

performance of each member of the Executive Board as per-

tains to the respective variable compensation component.

Executive Board compensation. The appropriateness 

of compensation for all Executive Board members is re-

viewed annually by the Supervisory Board and compared 

to national and international industry fi gures. Compen-

sation is oriented to the economic and fi nancial situation and 

the size and complexity of international operations and 

responsibilities. Each Executive Board member’s compen-

sation consists of three elements: a fi xed annual salary, a 

performance-related cash bonus and from time to time – 

upon approval by the Annual General Shareholders’ Meet-

ing – the possibility of stock option grants. The individual 

bonuses for fi scal 2005 depend on achieving Company 

goals.

For the year 2005, total compensation of the Execu-

tive Board members amounted to EUR 1,167 thousand 

(previous year: EUR 933 thousand). The individual compen-

sation is shown below, whereby ‘other compensation’ con-

sists of payment for vacation days not taken and in the case 

of R. Gary Schweikhardt fringe benefi ts paid by Epigenomics, 

Inc. on his behalf. 

Corporate Governance
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Supervisory Board compensation. In fi scal 2005, 

the total compensation paid to our Supervisory Board mem-

bers was EUR 116 thousand (previous year: EUR 90 thou-

sand), which was in line with decisions approved by the An-

nual General Shareholders’ Meeting. The following separate 

additional consulting arrangements have been concluded 

during 2005 with individual Supervisory Board members:

•  Prof. Dr. Dr. Uwe Bicker

EUR 2 thousand for strategy consulting

•  Dr. Ann Clare Kessler

EUR 2 thousand for strategy consulting

The compensation approved by the Annual General Share-

holders’ Meeting has been based on an annual cash retainer, 

meeting-related fees plus additional payments for commit-

tee chairing work. The compensation did not comprise any 

equity-linked elements or long-term incentive components. 

For individual compensation in 2005 please refer to page 29.

Directors’ Dealings and Directors’ Share Owner-
ship. According to Section 15a of the German Securities 

Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz) and Section 6.6 

paragraph 1 of the German Corporate Governance Code, 

persons having managerial responsibilities within an 

issuer of fi nancial instruments are required to disclose their 

personal transactions in shares of the issuer and fi nancial 

instruments based on them, especially derivatives, to the 

issuer. The duty to disclose applies to the members of the 

Executive Board and the Supervisory Board. Moreover, the 

duty of disclosure also applies to persons who have regular 

access to insider information about the company and are 

empowered to make signifi cant managerial decisions. The 

duty to disclosure also applies to persons and certain legal 

entities closely associated with a person discharging mana-

gerial duties at the company. The duty to disclose does 

not apply if the purchase and sale transactions do not ex-

ceed EUR 5 thousand in a calendar year.

The transactions from January 1 until December 31, 

2005 are shown in the table below.

In accordance with Section 6.6 paragraph 2 of the 

German Corporate Governance Code, the ownership of 

shares in the Company or related fi nancial instruments by 

the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board will be re-

ported if these directly or indirectly exceed 1% of the shares 

issued by the Company. As founders of the Company, our 

current Executive Board members hold a signifi cant number 

of shares. Please fi nd further details of the number of our 

shares held by the current members of the Executive Board 

as of December 31, 2005, in the notes of the consolidated 

fi nancial statements of page 85. 

Information on stock option programs of 
Epigenomics AG. We have three stock option programs 

pursuant to which stock options may be issued. The exer-

cise price for Executive Board members and other holders 

of options within one tranche shall be the defi ned market 

price of the shares on the grant date increased by 10 %. 

Please fi nd further details of the programs, the number 

of options granted as well the number of options that have 

been exercised in the notes of the consolidated fi nancial 

statements on page 83ff.

  Transaction Total amount of shares Total amount in EUR
Members of the Executive Board  as of Dec, 31, 2005 as of Dec, 31, 2005

Alexander Olek, Ph.D.
 Chief Executive Offi cer Sale  185,051 1,296,425
 Berlin (D)
R. Gary Schweikhardt (until Dec 31, 2005)
 Chief Executive Offi cer,  Sale 21,029 165,549
 Epigenomics, Inc., 
 Seattle, WA (U.S.A.)
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Members of the Executive Board and compensation

  Fixed Perfomance- Other Total   
  compen- related com- compen- compen- Owned Stock  
  sation  pensation sation sation shares as of options as of Exer-
  2005 2005 2005 2005 Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2005 cised
  in EUR in EUR in EUR in EUR (Dec 31, 2004) (Dec 31, 2004) in 2005

Alexander Olek, Ph.D.
 Chief Executive Offi cer 180,000 60,000 0 240,000 375,711 86,613 0
 Berlin (D)     (560,762) (86,613) 
Dr. Kurt Berlin
 Chief Scientifi c Offi cer 135,319 37,500 4,500 177,319 114,750 56,613 0
 Stahnsdorf (D)     (114,750) (56,613) 
Aron Braun 
(until Oct 31, 2005)
 Chief Operating Offi cer 135,000 37,500 0 172,500 115,515 56,613 0
 Berlin (D)     (115,515) (56,613) 
Christian Piepenbrock
 Chief Operating Offi cer 135,000 37,500 1,000 173,500 117,300 56,613 0
 Berlin (D)     (117,300) (56,613) 
Oliver Schacht, Ph.D.
 Chief Financial Offi cer 161,814  43,750 0 205,564 104,550 69,363 0
 Seattle, WA (U.S.A.)     (104,550) (69,363) 
R. Gary Schweikhardt 
(until Dec 31, 2005)
 Chief Executive Offi cer, 
 Epigenomics, Inc.,  161,814 8,524 27,848 198,186 15,827 106,643 0
 Seattle, WA (U.S.A.)     (36,856) (106,643)
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Members of the Supervisory Board and compensation

  Annual  Meeting-  Compensation Total
  retainer com- related as committee compen- 
  pensation fees chairman sation
  2005 2005 2005 2005
  in EUR in EUR in EUR in EUR

Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. Rolf Krebs – Chairman
 former speaker of the Executive Board of 
 Boehringer Ingelheim GmbH,
 Mainz (GER) 30,000 3,000 2,500 35,500
 Mandates as of Dec 31, 2005: Ganymed Pharmaceuticals AG, 
 GEA Group AG, Vita 34 AG, Air Liquide S.A., E. Merck OHG

Bruce Carter, Ph.D. – Deputy Chairman
 President & CEO ZymoGenetics Inc., Seattle, WA (U.S.A.) 20,000 4,000 0 24,000
 Mandates as of Dec 31, 2005: BioImage A/S, 
 Renovis Inc., ARK Therapeutics Group plc
 Terminated mandates during 2005: SkeleTech Inc.
John Berriman
 Consultant, Reading (GB) 10,000 6,000 2,500 18,500
 Mandates as of Dec 31, 2005: Ablynx NV, 
 Algeta ASA (Chairman), Micromet AG
 Terminated mandates during 2005: Alnylam Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Dr. Ann Clare Kessler (since June 28, 2005)
 Consultant, Basel (CH) 5,000 6,000 0 11,000
 Mandates as of Dec 31, 2005: MedGenesis Therapeutix
Prof. Dr. Dr. Uwe Bicker (since May 2, 2005)
 Associated Professor at University of Heidelberg, 
 Bensheim-Auerbach (GER) 6,667 4,000 0 10,667
 Mandates as of Dec 31, 2005: Dade Behring Marburg GmbH 
 (Chairman), Cambridge Antibody Technology Ltd., 
 Defi niens AG, Future Capital AG
Prof. Dr. Günther Reiter (since June 28, 2005)
 Professor at European School of Business, 
 Reutlingen (GER) 5,000 6,000 0 11,000
 Mandates as of Dec 31, 2005: Actium Beteiligungs AG, 
 Frankoniawert AG
Dr. Jörg Neermann (until April 9, 2005)
 Investment Manager, DVC, Munich (GER) 2,500  0 0 2,500
Dr. Michael Steinmetz (until April 9, 2005)
 Investment Manager, MPM Capital, Boston, MA (U.S.A.) 2,500 0 0 2,500
Dr. Klaus Stöckemann (until January 14, 2005)
 Investment Manager, 3i Deutschland GmbH, Berlin (GER) 0 0 0 0
Total Supervisory Board Compensation 2005 81,667 29,000 5,000 115,667

In addition, the members of the Supervisory Board incurred expenses of EUR 38,176 in 2005.

No member of the Supervisory Board held stock options on the Company during the reporting year. 

Dr. Jörg Neermann held 1,000 shares of the Company during his board membership.

Mandates indicated are memberships in other supervisory boards or comparable boards with supervisory function 
in Germany or abroad.
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The year 2005 has brought further clear improvement in the 

public markets for biotech companies. Following a series of 

U.S. biotech IPOs and follow-on transactions in late 2004 and 

in 2005, the European equity capital markets saw the success-

ful completion of several biotech 

IPOs throughout 2005. The Frank-

furt Stock Exchange witnessed two 

new biotech fl otations  successfully 

completed in 2005 with further list-

ings expected going forward. Over-

all performance of European bio-

tech IPOs has lagged other sectors 

and many of them trade around or 

below their original fl otation prices.

As depicted in the chart above, Epigenomics’ stock 

price underperformed relevant indices in 2005. The expiry 

of the venture capital (VC) shareholders’ lock-up in January 

2005, the end of the subsequently agreed-upon voluntary 

pooling agreement of major VCs with Morgan Stanley, 

the partial expiry of management lock-up as well as the 

continued technical pressure by the perceived overhang of 

shares held by VCs have all contributed to this situation. 

Despite solid fundamental performance, new collaboration 

partners announced, clinical product development pro-

gress and all fi nancials in line with guidance given, the nega-

tive news on the inconclusive Tamoxifen study results 

on October 31, 2005, put signifi cant pressure on our share 

price. As a result, on December 30, 2005, our stock closed 

Our Stock
 ....................................................................

Shares
...............................
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DE000A0BVT96

Security Code Number: 
A0BVT9

......................................................................................................................................................................

Epigenomics’ stock price development
from January 1 to December 31, 2005

  Epigenomics AG   Prime Standard Pharma & Healthcare   Biotechnology Industry Group

J

%

50

150

 ..............................................................................100

 ..............................................................................125

 ..............................................................................75

F M A M J J A S O N D



31Our Stock

at EUR 6.45 (Xetra), down 25.7 % from its prior year-end 

price of EUR 8.47.

Trading volumes in Epigenomics stock (Ticker sym-

bol: ECX) have steadily increased every quarter throughout 

2005. Whilst fi rst-quarter average was at around 17 thou-

sand shares traded per day, second-quarter at 20 thousand 

and third-quarter at 23 thousand, the fourth-quarter saw 

a signifi cant increase in liquidity and trading volumes. Over 

the last three months of the year, a total of 3.6 million 

Epigenomics shares changed owners, averaging a daily 

trading volume of more than 57 thousand shares.

As of December 31, 2005, a total of 16,403,178 shares 

were issued. Epigenomics’ Executive Board held 4.3 % 

and several major shareholder groups each controlled more 

than 5 % of Epigenomics’ total share capital:

• DVC 16.1 %

• 3i Group  9.1 %

• Omega Fund II  6.7 %

• MPM  6.2 %

• BB Biotech  6.1%

• SET  5.8 %

• Abingworth  5.7 %

• The Wellcome Trust  5.0 %

• Executive Board  4.3 %

Three analysts have maintained regular and continuous 

coverage of Epigenomics’ stock to date and have provided 

updates to their views and recommendations. DZ Bank’s 

Patrick Fuchs, Lehman Brothers’ Sam Williams and Morgan 

Stanley’s Dan Mahony have varying recommendations 

and views on the stock as of the end of 2005, ranging from 

a price target of EUR 7.50 per share and a “Buy” recommen-

dation via an “Equal Weight” and EUR 8.00 per share target 

to an “Overweight” recommendation with a EUR 18.00 

per share price target. In an environment, where analysts 

are more and more incentivized by trading volumes, in-

creasing the coverage will be our key challenge going for-

ward.

Corporate communications. We continuously strive 

to provide all our shareholders with timely, accurate and 

comprehensive information to give them the best possible 

basis for making informed investment decisions in Epige-

nomics’ stock. In 2005, the fi rst full fi scal year as a publicly 

quoted company, we held an annual press conference 

and an analyst meeting in Frankfurt am Main, hosted our 

fi rst-ever Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting in Berlin 

on June 28, 2005, with a participation of almost 63.3 % of 

the authorized capital and offered conference calls on im-

portant Company updates.

The entire investor and public relations team of Epige-

nomics fosters a continuous dialog with institutional and 

private investors, many analysts, the press, and the general 

public. We use all communication channels available to 

distribute information about our Company, including emails, 

our corporate website, conference calls, personal meetings 

and a strong presence at industry and trade show meetings. 

Our website contains up-to-date infor mation on news and 

investor relation activities of Epige nomics. Further details can 

be found on www.epigenomics.com.

Throughout 2005, Epigenomics has presented updates 

to investors at numerous conferences in the U.S. as well as 

in Europe. Also, a series of targeted road shows have been 

organized in major fi nancial centers such as Frankfurt am 

Main, Zurich, London, New York, Boston, San Francisco, and 

the Benelux countries to update both current and potential 

institutional investors on the progress of Epigenomics. We 

expect to further strengthen this effort in 2006 and going 

forward. 





 “The excellent results 

 achieved so far with 

our pharma customers in the Clinical 

Solutions business unit are the en-

gine for new collaborations in the 

area of our biomarker technologies 

and services.”

Christina Dahlstroem
· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

PH.D., SENIOR VICE 

PRESIDENT CLINICAL SOLUTIONS, 

SEATTLE 
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several in biotech, Europe faced a similar recovery and in-

crease of IPO activity, however, with only a few biotech 

IPOs getting completed and many of them trading down 

in the aftermarket. However, there have been two IPOs 

successfully completed in the German biotech space dur-

ing 2005 with a few more expected over the next several 

years.

The signifi cant strengthening of the U.S.$ vis-à-vis 

the euro increased our U.S. cost base in euro terms during 

the year, but is also somewhat alleviating pricing pressure 

on our R&D offering to the pharmaceutical and biotech in-

dustries, which typically is guided by U.S.$ benchmarks. 

Comparatively high unemployment in both Germany and 

the U.S.A. has made the access to highly qualifi ed and 

motivated personnel relatively easy and swift with overall 

labor cost increases staying within tight limits. 

Overall, the sentiment seems to have improved in the 

last quarter of 2005 with the German elections out of the 

equation, signs of economic recovery in the U.S.A. as well 

as in Europe and some expectations for a continuously im-

proving investment and equity fi nancing climate in Europe 

and in Germany in particular. The debate about social 

reforms, increases in taxes, and budgetary diffi culties in 

Germany is continuing to put pressure on all stakeholders 

with no self-sustaining economic growth in Germany yet. 

Therefore, a tough macroeconomic climate for any high-

tech business dependent on the capital markets’ sentiment 

will remain.

................................................................................

E C O N O M I C  E N V I R O N M E N T
................................................................................

Geopolitical uncertainty, massive 

increase in energy prices, a strength-

ening U.S.$, rising interest rates, 

a weak German economy, and slow 

economic growth dominate. 
................................................................................

The year 2005 has been characterized by a continued con-

cern about global terrorism, major natural disasters, slow 

economic growth in major European countries and steep 

increases in oil prices. They were accompanied by rising 

interest rates in the U.S.A. as well as initial tightening of 

interest rate policies by the European Central Bank. The 

political situation in Germany with early federal elections 

and the resulting stalemate prior to the grand coalition 

government coupled with a perilous economic situation as 

well as the budgetary and social systems situations did little 

to boost the German economic outlook. Taken together, 

this has led to a con tinued slow development of the equity 

capital markets in Europe and in Germany in particular.

While the U.S. capital market saw continuing IPO ac-

tivity and follow-on offerings in many sectors, including 
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................................................................................

B U S I N E S S  R E V I E W  A N D  A N A LY S I S 1 
................................................................................

Highlights: Epigenomics successfully 

completes major clinical studies; 

product development progress and 

proof of concept in blood-based 

early cancer detection; fi nancials in 

line with or better than expectations.

................................................................................

Epigenomics is a molecular diagnostics company active in 

two strategic business units (SBUs): Diagnostics and Clinical 

Solutions (formerly: Pharma Technology). In both our busi-

nesses we are focused on developing novel and proprietary 

molecular diagnostic tests, i.e. products that shall provide 

signifi cant benefi t to patients in terms of accuracy, con-

venience and ultimately acceptance of these tests. With our 

research and development (R&D) and in close collaboration 

with our commercialization partners we plan to leverage our 

DNA methylation technologies and set a standard in molecu-

lar diagnostics. Initially, we focus primarily on oncology tests 

but believe that DNA methylation has signifi cantly broader 

application potential in other indications such as autoim-

mune disorders, metabolic and cardiovascular as well as cen-

tral nervous system and possibly infl ammatory diseases too.

In the year 2005, the Executive Board of Epigenomics 

has undergone signifi cant changes with the departure of 

Aron Braun (COO) at the end of October and the retirement 

of Gary Schweikhardt (Head of SBU Diagnostics and CEO 

of Epigenomics, Inc., U.S.A.) at the end of 2005. Christian 

Piepenbrock has already assumed the role of COO and 

also became head of our SBU Diagnostics at the beginning 

of 2006, including the Roche programs and our own pro d-

uct development. His previous responsibility as head of the 

SBU Clinical Solutions (then SBU Pharma Technology) has 

been fi lled by Christina Dahlstroem who has been running 

the R&D programs of the business units for over two years. 

She now reports directly to CEO Alexander Olek. Dr. Kurt 

Berlin (CSO) has taken over executive responsibility for busi-

ness development and out-licensing from Aron Braun. Finally, 

CFO Oliver Schacht, in addition, has taken over the position 

as CEO of Epigenomics, Inc., the wholly owned Seattle-based 

U.S. subsidiary of Epigenomics AG as of January 1, 2006.

Throughout 2005, we have systematically progressed 

our product development programs in oncology. Several of 

our Roche programs completed later stages of clinical and 

analytical marker validation in large clinical studies. We have 

continued to meet critical milestones in both business units. 

We delivered study results to our commercial partners and 

signed up new customers and partners in our pharma-

codiagnostics business. With continued improvement of 

our DNA methylation technologies we strengthened our 

IP portfolio and contributed to the overall scientifi c under-

standing of methylation as a key component of human 

(epi)genetic information.

Consolidated Management Report

1  All 2004 numbers indicated have been restated following the fi rst-time application 

of IFRS 2 and the amended cost allocation method (see notes to the consolidated 

fi nancial statements).

..............................................................................

Group revenue (in EUR thousand) 

10,7787,931

200320042005

9,594
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Following our IPO in 2004, we have successfully 

completed our fi rst full fi scal year as a public company. This 

included an annual press conference and an analyst meet-

ing in March 2005 and our fi rst-ever public Annual General 

Shareholders’ Meeting held in Berlin on June 28, 2005. 

Overall, our fi nancial position with year-end liquidity of 

EUR 32.7 million available at the end of 2005 is exceeding 

the upper end of our guidance.

In line with market expectations and guidance given 

during our March 2005 annual press conference and analyst 

meeting, 2005 revenue was up by 21 % to EUR 9.6 million 

compared to previous year’s EUR 7.9 million. Both meeting 

a key milestone in our Roche collaboration in the fourth 

quarter of 2005 as well as signifi cant new business in our 

SBU Clinical Solutions contributed to this. In 2005, our lead 

products in colon, prostate and breast cancer indi cations 

reached important clinical validation and milestones and 

contributed to revenue. 

Having kept the size and scale of operations virtually 

constant throughout 2005, the bottom line was better than 

expectations with EBIT even slightly better than in 2004. 

EBIT for 2005 read EUR – 10.2 million compared to the pre-

vious year’s EUR – 10.4 million. Our 2005 net loss amounted 

to EUR 8.8 million compared to a loss of EUR 11.0 million the 

year before.

Our total net cash fl ow for fi scal 2005 amounted to 

EUR – 8.6 million compared to a positive net cash fl ow of 

EUR 13.7 million in 2004, mainly driven by a cash outfl ow 

from operations with no signifi cant fi nancing cash infl ows 

in 2005.

Control system. The Company’s control system is main-

ly based on miscellaneous planning and reporting tools. 

Qualitative information is gained by a self-developed project 

documentation database and quantitative information is 

processed by common ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning) 

software. Our accounting and controlling department 

reports to the CFO and provides relevant controlling in-

formation on a monthly basis to the Executive Board. 

Shorter frequencies are possible in cases of high priority 

or urgency.

For controlling purposes we set up an annual fi nancial 

budget which is based on the most recent mid- to long-

term plans of the Company. The budget is planned bottom-

up from the cost centers and the projects with individual 

responsibilities. A fi nal approval of the budget by our Super-

visory Board is mandatory. 

The focus of the monthly internal management report-

ing lies on actual versus budget comparisons for the specifi c 

set of numbers which comprises the external quarterly re-

ports. It is supplemented with additional data requested 

and specifi ed by the Executive Board and the Controlling 

unit (for example: a profi t and loss statement according 

to the nature of expense method, headcount statistics, cash 

infl ow analysis, analysis of foreign currency effects and a 

cost per head calculation). Each quarterly report is accom-

panied by an internal budget update (the “forecast”), 

which gives us the opportunity to always have an up-to-

date estimate of expected year-end numbers.

Business development. In 2005, both our SBUs mar-

keted their offering of diagnostics and pharmacodiagnostics 

product development in a business-to-business model driv-

en by strategic R&D and commercialization alliances. The 

customer and partnership universe of our two SBUs distinctly 

differ from each other: In Diagnostics we address compa-

nies dealing with in-vitro diagnostics medical devices and 

reference labs companies, whose economics are driven by 

diagnostic test sales. In Clinical Solutions, however, our aim 

is to add value to drug development programs of our phar-

maceutical and biotech industry partners. In both SBUs the 

primary focus has been on oncology programs in 2005, as 

had already been the case in previous years. Total expenses 

of our business development activities in 2005 added up to 

EUR 1.5 million (2004: EUR 1.5 million).

In our Diagnostics business, the Roche Diagnostics 

partnership has been expanded by at least 6 months with 

an option to extend and potentially expand it by a further 

18 months at the end of the fi rst quarter of 2006. Discussions 

are well underway to determine the further options for 

progressing several of the products that are jointly being de-

veloped. Also, for our own product development efforts, 

Consolidated Management Report
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negotiations with several potential platform providers have 

been advanced through 2005 with the goal of providing 

Epigenomics with access to a diagnostics device platform 

independent of Roche.

The emphasis in our Clinical Solutions business has 

successfully added partnerships during 2005. The Qiagen 

partnership is strategic in the sense that it aims at establishing 

a gold standard in the research market for preanalytic bisul-

fi te treatment for DNA methylation testing. It also has an OEM 

(original equipment manufacturer) component that could 

expand it into the molecular diagnostics fi eld in the future. 

This alliance is expected to yield the fi rst product launches of 

co-branded research kits by Qiagen in 2006. The Philip Morris 

deal has been the fi rst outside the purely medical oncology 

fi eld giving a glimpse of the vast application potential of DNA 

methylation-based technologies and biomarkers.

................................................................................

S E G M E N T  R E P O R T 2 
................................................................................

Execution of Roche programs in 

Diagnostics; continued growth 

in Clinical Solutions (formerly: 

Pharma Technology) business.

................................................................................

In 2005 as in previous years, Epigenomics continued to be 

active in two business segments. Both have been structured 

into independent strategic business units (SBUs) to focus 

on their respective distinct customer and partnership base. 

Consolidated Management Report

2  All 2004 numbers indicated have been restated following the fi rst-time application of IFRS 2 and the amended cost allocation method 

(see notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements).
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Our SBU Diagnostics develops molecular diagnostic tests 

for the early detection, classifi cation and monitoring of can-

cer and commercializes these tests through in-vitro diag-

nostics partnerships such as the Roche Diagnostics alliance. 

The second business unit which hitherto traded under 

“Pharma Technology” focuses on programs that are geared 

towards developing biomarkers for specifi c cancer drugs 

and assisting partnering pharmaceutical and biotech com-

panies in their respective drug development programs. 

From January 1, 2006, onwards, all activities related to 

product development, both partnered as well as internal 

Epigenomics ones, will be combined in our SBU Diagnostics. 

The SBU Pharma Technology has become our strategic 

business unit “Clinical Solutions”. The new name better cap-

tures the business model and offering since we target a 

broader customer base than only pharma companies and 

do not offer technologies per se but rather comprehensive 

solutions. It will focus entirely on providing high-value-add-

ed biomarker and sample management solutions to its 

partners and customers in the life sciences industry.

In 2005, the SBU Diagnostics continued to contribute 

the lion’s share of revenue (72 %) based on successful 

execution of the Roche programs, which progressed signifi -

cantly. However, the relative share of Clinical Solutions 

revenue increased from 22.8 % in 2004 to 27.9 % in 2005. 

All new business deals and commercial agreements in 

2005 came from Clinical Solutions. The geographic split of 

our 2005 revenue was still almost entirely Europe-based 

with 93 % of total revenue coming from European partners 

and the remaining 7 % from U.S. partners.

SBU Diagnostics. The revenue of EUR 6.9 million in 

2005 generated by our SBU Diagnostics was up by 13 % 

from EUR 6.1 million in 2004. The Diagnostics’ business is 

generally subject to revenue fl uctuations which are often 

due to the timing of signifi cant one-off milestone payments 

in long-term collaborations. By achieving such a milestone 

in the development of a colorectal cancer screening (CCS) 

test for Roche in December 2005 after having successfully 

completed clinical validation studies involving approximately 

2,000 blood samples, the corresponding revenue could 

be recognized. Given the enormous importance of this fi rst 

blood-based screening test and the required proof-of-con-

cept for DNA methylation blood-based diagnostic testing in 

general, our prostate and breast cancer screening pro-

grams were pushed into subsequent periods. The initially 

inconclusive results obtained from our breast cancer re-

lapse prediction/Tamoxifen test clinical study have led to 

a delay of the milestone and licensing decision by Roche 

into the fi rst quarter of 20063. 

The SBU Diagnostics has successfully completed a 

605-patient study in prostate cancer, validating three pro-

prietary DNA methylation markers as clinically useful indi-

cators of tumor aggressiveness. Nonetheless, Roche decided 

to discontinue the collaborative development of this test 

and has returned all rights to Epigenomics. We will continue 

the development of this test as our own product in our 

Diagnostics unit. 

The R&D part of our Roche Diagnostics alliance was 

successfully extended beyond the initial three-year term for 

another 6 months until the end of the fi rst quarter of 2006 

with an option to extend for an additional 18 months at that 

point.

Overall, 2005 revenue was attributable to R&D fund-

ing and reimbursements for all our Roche programs as well 

as the major CCS milestone achieved. The following prod-

uct development projects contributed to the 2005 Diagnos-

tics revenue and were all partnered with Roche:

•  Colon Cancer Early Detection Test

•  Prostate Cancer Molecular Classifi cation Test 

•   Breast Cancer Relapse Prediction/Molecular 

Classifi cation Test 

Corresponding cost of sales for the execution of our 

partnered Roche programs were also higher in 2005 at 

EUR 6.4 million (2004: EUR 5.2 million) due to the large-

scale clinical validation studies run in the above three 

projects. Therefore, gross profi t in our Diagnostics business 

decreased to EUR 0.5 million with the gross margin down 

to 8 % compared to the previous year’s EUR 0.9 million and 

15 %, respectively.

Consolidated Management Report

3  see also Supplementary Report.
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Research and development expenses in 2005 for 

our Diagnostics business amounted to EUR 3.1 million ver-

sus EUR 2.0 million the year before. Key drivers were the 

in itiation of our own product development and platform 

activi ties as well as continued technology improvements 

with specifi c focus on building a high-throughput system 

for processing thousands of blood samples for later-stage 

product development of cancer tests. Furthermore, continu-

ing effort went into our IT infrastructure (sample data-

bases), assay technologies and sensitive detection of DNA 

methylation from body fl uids in particular. By the end 

of 2005, the SBU Diagnostics has initiated a few promising 

product development projects that will be progressed over 

the next few years and shall drive future revenue generation 

through partnerships as well as own commercialization 

efforts. Amongst these own product development programs 

are efforts in tissue-based tests in cancer as well as a fi rst 

program outside of oncology seeking to develop a DNA 

methylation-based endometriosis test.

Efforts in Diagnostics business development totaling 

EUR 601 thousand in 2005 (previous year: EUR 485 thou-

sand) focused on the continued evolution of the Roche Diag-

nostics R&D and licensing deal as well as putting in place 

the elements for our own product and platform programs.

The overall segment earnings contribution from our 

SBU Diagnostics in 2005 was negative at EUR 3.0 million, 

compared to a negative contribution of EUR 1.6 million in 

2004.

SBU Clinical Solutions (formerly: SBU Pharma 
Technology). The revenue of EUR 2.7 million in 2005 

generated by our SBU Clinical Solutions was up by almost 

50 % from previous year (EUR 1.8 million). This was attribu-

table to continued revenue recognition from our Roche 

program in the Tamoxifen breast cancer relapse prediction 

test as well as the execution of our ongoing and newly 

partnered projects with Pfi zer (cell line and xenograft model 

studies), Biogen Idec (cell line study), Qiagen (bisulfi te 

kits for the research market), and Philip Morris Research Labs 

(smoking-related effects on DNA methylation in animal 

models). These collaborative projects beyond the Roche 

deal have contributed a signifi cantly higher proportion of 

revenue than in previous years and helped decreasing the 

dependence on Roche in this business.

Corresponding cost of sales for the execution of our 

partnered programs were fairly constant in 2005 at EUR 

1.2 million compared to EUR 1.1 million in the previous year. 

Therefore, gross profi t on sales in our Clinical Solutions 

business increased to EUR 1.4 million with the gross margin 

up to 54 % compared to previous year’s EUR 0.6 million 

and 34 %, respect ively.

Research and development expenses in 2005 for our 

Clinical Solutions business decreased to EUR 1.2 million 

versus EUR 1.5 million in 2004. All product development-

related activities in the future will be combined in our 

SBU Diagnostics, while the SBU Clinical Solutions will focus 

on the development of clinical solution offerings to its 

pharma, biotech, clinical and lifestyle products partners.

Our very signifi cant efforts in Clinical Solutions’ busi-

ness development totaling EUR 598 thousand in 2005 

(previous year: EUR 715 thousand) started to bear fruit. We 

initiated two new partnerships in 2005 with Philip Morris 

Research Labs and Qiagen and had a healthy pipeline of dis-

cussions at the end of 2005 with some potential for grow-

ing and further diversifying revenue generation in 2006 and 

beyond.

The overall segment earnings contribution from 

our SBU Clinical Solutions in 2005 was still negative at 

EUR 0.4 million, yet signifi cantly improved from the 2004 

contribution of EUR – 1.6 million. This was almost entirely 

driven by the growth in revenue.

Consolidated Management Report
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Income Statement

Revenue  9,594  7,931  10,778  1,775  428

Gross profi t  1,904  1,509  5,438  838  261

R&D costs  – 8,121  – 7,336  – 7,642  – 9,442  – 8,075

EBIT*  – 10,234  – 10,351  – 6,306  – 13,935  – 10,892

EBITDA  – 8,560  – 8,907  – 4,953  – 12,685  – 9,774

Net loss  – 8,788  – 10,975  – 6,745  – 13,868  – 9,973

Earnings per share (basic) in EUR  – 0.54  – 0.80  – 0.80  – 1.25  – 0.90

Five-Year Overview
according to consolidated fi nancial statements

EUR thousand unless stated otherwise 2005  2004  2003  2002  2001

Balance Sheet

Non-current assets  9,471  9,677  8,430  8,783  9,481

Current assets  35,526  43,607  22,877  8,202  15,651

Total assets  44,997  53,284  31,307  16,985  25,132

Equity  39,375  47,739  17,713  3,578  17,445

Equity-ratio in %  87.5  89.6  56.6  21.1  69.4

Non-current liabilities  4  41  6,375  6,041  6,039

Current liabilities  5,618  5,504  7,218  7,366  1,648

Cash Flow Statement

Cash fl ow from operating activities  – 7,501  – 8,885  – 6,338  – 6,954  – 8,300

Cash fl ow from investing activities  – 1,689  – 10,214  – 1,763  – 885  – 4,316

Cash fl ow from fi nancing activities  228  32,757  20,446  – 172  69

Net cash fl ow (currency-adjusted)  – 8,647  13,747  11,858  – 8,270  – 12,547

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end  23,519  32,166  18,419  6,852  14,953

Other Information

Investments in tangible and intangible assets  1,007  964  946  675  2,720

Number of employees at year-end  141  146  143  135  120

Share price at year-end in EUR  6.45  8.67  n/a  n/a  n/a

*  after retrospective fi rst-time application of IFRS 2 (see notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements 2005).
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................................................................................

F I N A N C I A L S 4 
................................................................................

Continued strong fi nancial 

position; revenue and earnings 

in line with guidance. 

................................................................................

Financial position and cash flow. Epigenomics’ 

2005 cash fl ow and fi nancial position was mainly affected 

by the continued net cash consumption from operations. 

Overall, the fi nancial position has developed in line with 

expectations throughout the year with cash, cash equiva-

lents and marketable securities amounting to EUR 32.7 mil-

lion as of December 31, 2005, compared to EUR 41.0 mil-

lion on January 1, 2005. 

Total net cash fl ow (currency-adjusted) in 2005 was 

negative at EUR – 8.6 million compared to the IPO-driven 

positive net cash infl ow of EUR 13.7 million in the previous 

year. Cash outfl ow from operating activities in 2005 

amounted to EUR 7.5 million, down from the previous year’s 

EUR 8.9 million. This improvement was mainly due to a 

reduced net loss before taxes and a slightly higher amount 

of interest payments received, partly supported by a small 

increase of current liabilities compared to a strong decrease 

in the previous year.

In 2005, cash outfl ow from investing activities at EUR 

1.7 million compared to previous year’s EUR 10.2 million 

was partly driven by treasury investments and divestments 

in marketable securities and fi nancial assets. Thereof, net 

cash outfl ow for investments in tangible and intangible as-

sets (including infl ows from investment grants) totaled 

EUR 1.0 million in 2005 compared to EUR 0.6 million in the 

year before. This refl ects our continued cautious capital 

investment strategy as well as the level of maturity of our 

facilities and equipment with very little growth in 2005. 

In the year under review, we put particular emphasis on 

investments into technical equipment and lab machinery 

focused on high-throughput facilities for later-stage clinical 

studies and blood-based testing. Investments in leasehold 

improvements are further to mention as a consequence of 

the concentration of all Berlin activities at one site. The 

Company’s former location in Berlin Kastanienallee has 

been abandoned in 2005.

All investments in marketable securities have been 

made under the Company’s investment policy. Under 

the rules of this policy, investments in marketable securities 

are only allowed up to a given limit for each position for 

diversifi cation purposes. The securities must be nominated 

in euro currency to limit currency risks and an investment 

grade rating for the issuer or the security itself is mandatory 

to limit credit risks. The investment policy is approved by 

the Supervisory Board and is under current review of the 

Executive Board and our management.

Net cash infl ow from fi nancing activities amounted 

to a mere EUR 0.2 million in 2005 – mainly due to infl ows 

from stock option exercises – compared to the IPO-related 

EUR 32.8 million cash infl ow in 2004.

Results of operations. Compared to 2004, revenue in 

2005 was up by 21 % to a total of EUR 9.6 million, mainly 

due to the successfully met Roche program milestone and 

the strong performance of our SBU Clinical Solutions. The 

2005 revenue base has been further broadened to include 

the new partners Qiagen and Philip Morris. Cost of sales 

for the execution of partnered programs increased by 20  % 

to EUR 7.7 million leading to a gross profi t on sales of 

EUR 1.9 million compared to EUR 6.4 million and EUR 1.5 mil-

lion in 2004, respectively. 

Other income grew to EUR 1.5 million compared with 

EUR 1.2 million in 2004, mainly resulting from income re-

lated to former years.
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In 2005, EBIT added up to EUR – 10.2 million, a slight 

drop from previous year’s EUR – 10.4 million. The increase 

in operating costs of EUR 1.9 million was extensively com-

pensated by the aforementioned increase in revenue. Costs 

for R&D increased year on year from EUR 7.3 million to 

EUR 8.1 million. Marketing and business development costs 

remained fairly constant at EUR 1.5 million as did general 

and administrative costs at EUR 3.8 million. 

Other expenses fi nally decreased to EUR 0.2 million 

from EUR 0.4 million in 2004.

In 2005, total operating costs rose to EUR 21.4 million 

from EUR 19.5 million in the year before. This increase was 

mainly attributable to the much larger numbers of clinical 

samples used in the commercial projects (up 20 %) as well 

as to higher license fees to third parties (up 30 %), higher 

statutory costs5 (up 47 %) and increased salaries (up 7 %). 

Due to the aforementioned abandoning of the location in 

Berlin Kastanienallee, the rent obligation for the remaining 

lease term qualifi ed as an onerous contract and has been 

completely expensed in 2005. The increase in costs was 

partly compensated by lower expenditures for consumables 

and materials and the signifi cant currency effects from the 

strength of the euro towards the U.S.$ in early months of 

2005. 

Key drivers in terms of fi nancial result were the signifi -

cant liquid funds in our treasury portfolio on the income 

side with virtually no interest-bearing debt on the balance 

sheet. On the other hand, a major impairment in our securi-

ties portfolio had to be recognized. During the fourth quar-

ter of 2005, severe fi nancial problems at German mortgage 

bank AHBR were made public. This led to massive price loss-

es for their stock-quoted participation rights and only a 

takeover by an U.S. fi nance investor avoided a collapse of 

the bank. Our original investment of EUR 965 thousand in 

AHBR participation rights traded at EUR 270 thousand at the 

balance sheet date. After the new investor announced the 

proposed restructuring plans, a permanent loss of value had 

to be assumed. Above all, the reporting year was character-

ized by increasing interest rates – fi rst in the U.S.$ markets 

and later in the euro zone as well. The following decline 

of prices on the respective bond markets partially effected 

our portfolio too. As a result, the net yield of our liquid 

funds in the reporting year did not meet our expectations. 

As a consequence of the existing transfer pricing 

agreement between Epigenomics AG and Epigenomics, Inc. 

in the U.S.A., the latter is recording a taxable net profi t in 

its individual fi nancial statements for the third consecutive 

year now. Due to the high probability of ongoing future 

taxable profi ts for this company, the so far unused tax loss 

carryforwards have been capitalized at balance sheet date. 

Therefore, a net tax profi t of EUR 1,2 million has been 

recognized.

Our net loss improved by 20 % from previous year’s 

EUR 11.0 million to EUR – 8.8 million in 2005. This decrease 

is strongly infl uenced by the aforementioned tax profi t as 

one-off effect. However, the loss before taxes improved by 

no more than 8 % from EUR 10.9 million in 2004 to EUR 

10.0 million in 2005.
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Net assets position. Epigenomics’ balance sheet total 

decreased from EUR 53.3 million as of December 31, 2004, 

to a total of EUR 45.0 million at year-end 2005. Key driver 

was the net consumption of liquidity by operations.

Total non-current assets decreased from the previous 

year’s EUR 9.5 million to EUR 8.2 million at the end of 2005 

and contained goodwill of EUR 2.6 million, which did not 

suffer any impairment upon annual testing. Tangible assets 

decreased during the reporting year from EUR 2.4 million 

to EUR 2.0 million, due to a restrictive capital investment 

strategy just making up for depreciation and a reduction 

effect on the carrying values by the collection of investment 

subsidies. 

Intangible assets decreased from EUR 5.5 million to 

EUR 5.2 million. As in former years, Epigenomics has not 

capitalized own patents in accordance with the accounting 

rules as the probability of future economic benefi t is hard 

to prove in this fi eld. However, the activities of fi ling intellec-

tual property are still strong and the number of patents 

granted has further increased during the reporting year. This 

leads to the conclusion that a signifi cant amount of undis-

closed reserves may lie within the portfolio of intangible 

assets.

A reduction in the portfolio of held-to-maturity securi-

ties due to an early repayment of a callable bond amount-

ing to EUR 750 thousand was another main reason for the 

decrease in non-current assets, which was partly offset by 

the capitalization of deferred tax assets of EUR 1.3 million. 

Current assets decreased from EUR 43.6 million to EUR 

35.5 million, due to the cash outfl ow from operations and 

investments.

Our subscribed capital increased by 68,949 shares at 

a notional par value of EUR 1 each. Capital reserve was re-

duced by EUR 10.3 million from EUR 42.4 million as of the 

end of 2004 to EUR 32.1 million at the end of 2005 due to 

the deduction of the net loss of the previous fi nancial year. 

This effect was partly compensated by the exercise of stock 

options granted to employees in previous years and by 

expensed stock options. Together with the net loss for the 

year of EUR 8.8 million, the equity ratio of 87.5 % remained 

at a high level. 

The balance sheet is free of long-term debt. Current 

liabilities added up to EUR 5.6 million at year-end 2005, 

nearly unchanged compared to a total of EUR 5.5 million 

the year before.

................................................................................

E M P L O Y E E S
................................................................................

The Epigenomics Group employed a total staff of 141 as of 

December 31, 2005, a slight decrease from the end of pre-

vious year (146). The average number of employees during 

2005 stayed constant at 145. During 2005, at Epigenomics 

AG in Berlin, we employed an average of 109 people and 

in our Epigenomics, Inc. subsidiary in Seattle 36 employees 

(2004: in Berlin 110 and in Seattle 35). The Berlin number 

includes 3 apprentices. 

Overall staff costs totaled EUR 9.5 million in 2005, 

up 7.0 % versus 2004. Staff costs were signifi cantly impact-

ed by the departure of two Executive Board members who 

were entitled to future compensation. This entitlement has 

been expensed completely in the reporting year. The con-

tinued strong euro versus the U.S.$ in early months of 2005, 

kept our staff costs at Epigenomics, Inc. at comparable in-

dustry levels but its relative weakness versus 2004 was an-

other staff cost driver in comparison to previous year. 

During 2005, fl uctuation remained relatively low and 

all vacant positions could be fi lled at very short notice. Sev-

eral key positions such as the Head of SBU Clinical Solutions 

and its Vice President R&D could successfully be fi lled 

through internal promotions and continued staff develop-

ment. 

We are committed to continuously increase compe-

tencies and skills amongst our staff and to improve the 

professional and the management skills of all employees 

by ongoing education and training measures. We also 

selectively recruit people with complementary skill sets and 

expertise. The implementation of generally binding man-

agement principles and guidelines for Epigenomics is under-

way and is expected to have further positive effects on the 

Company culture. 
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................................................................................

R E S E A R C H  &  D E V E L O P M E N T
................................................................................

Maintaining of technology leader-

ship; expanded IP portfolio.
................................................................................

In 2005, Epigenomics continued its strong commitment 

to building and maintaining its leading position in DNA 

methylation-based products, science and technology. Con-

sequently, we spent a total of EUR 8.1 million in R&D ver-

sus the 2004 level of EUR 7.3 million. This amount comprises 

R&D spending in the SBU Diagnostics of EUR 3.1 million, 

EUR 1.2 million in the SBU Clinical Solutions and other R&D 

of EUR 3.8 million. 

The other R&D expenses include the further develop-

ment of our intellectual property position, improvements 

in our biomarker discovery and development processes, 

sensitive detection technologies, tissue-based technologies 

and R&D infrastructure in bioinformatics and automation. 

Many of our central R&D programs are undertaken in collab-

oration with world-leading academic and clinical partners.

An indication of the dedicated effort in our R&D to-

wards proprietary technologies and biomarkers is the sig-

nifi cant maturing of our IP portfolio. In 2005, we received 

a total of 21 patent grants, bringing the total number of 

granted patents (in at least one country) up to over 50. Sev-

eral of these manifest key components of our competitive 

advantage in DNA methylation, e.g. in the areas of micro-

arrays, bisulfi te treatment, and real-time PCR detection of 

DNA methylation.

................................................................................

S U P P L E M E N TA RY  R E P O R T
................................................................................

Important events after the end of 

the reporting period
................................................................................

On January 30, 2006, we released the following ad-hoc 

announcement:

“Epigenomics AG (Frankfurt, Prime Standard: ECX), a mole-

cular diagnostics company developing tests based on DNA 

methylation, announced today that Roche Diagnostics has 

returned full rights for a Tamoxifen treatment response and 

breast cancer molecular classifi cation test to Epigenomics, 

which will undertake sole development of the test. This 

tissue-based test, designed to predict the probability of 

disease recurrence in breast cancer patients, was part 

of a multiproduct collaboration with Roche Diagnostics. 

Epigenomics and Roche Diagnostics will continue to 

collaborate on the development of three screening prod-

ucts for colon, prostate and breast cancers.”

The impact of this issue on the future fi nancial situation on 

the Company can be extracted from the prognosis report.
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................................................................................

R I S K  R E P O R T I N G 
................................................................................

Effective risk management system 

in place; signifi cant risks remain.
................................................................................

Epigenomics is a globally operating biotech company 

and as such subject to many industry and company-spe-

cifi c risks. In line with the German “Corporation Sector 

Supervision and Transparency Act” (“Gesetz zur Kontrolle 

und Transparenz im Unternehmensbereich” – KonTraG), 

Epigenomics has an established, comprehensive and effec-

tive system to identify, assess, communicate and manage 

risks across all of its functions and operations. The underly-

ing principles and guidelines have been documented in 

a group-wide “Risk Management Policy”. The goal of this 

policy and all related systems is to identify risks systemati-

cally at the earliest possible stage, estimate their likelihood 

of occurrence as well as potential qualitative and quanti-

tative impact, and design and implement countermeasures 

effectively. The risk management has been regularly dis-

cussed at the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 

levels.

Core principle is a transparency of risks across func-

tions and businesses, interactive evaluation of these risks and 

a culture of accepting risks as integral part of doing busi-

ness in biotechnology, but doing so responsibly and seek-

ing an optimal balance of risks and opportunities. Every 

risk has a clearly identifi ed “Risk Owner” whose responsi-

bility it is to continuously monitor and control it as well 

as manage implementation of any countermeasures. At 

quarterly intervals, these risk owners report to the corpor-

ate “Risk Manager” who in turn communicates these risks 

to the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of the 

Company. Any material risk is immediately brought to the 

attention of the corporate risk manager and discussed at 

the appropriate board levels. 

Hence, our management structure, our organiza-

tional forums for identifying and assessing risks, the monthly 

internal as well as external reporting and our controlling 

systems all form an integral part of the overall risk manage-

ment system in a standardized fashion across all functions 

and locations. All of these tools are regularly monitored for 

effectiveness and optimized as well as reviewed by our au-

ditors and the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee 

of our Supervisory Board.

There are a number of major risks that Epigenomics 

faces, which individually or in combination could severely 

impact our revenue, earnings and fi nancial situation as well 

as our stock price. These are addressed below:

Despite all of the progress made, a substantial amount 

of risk remains and pertains to our businesses, products, 

partnerships, technologies, IP, operations, fi nancials and ulti-

mately our stock. These were described in great detail in 

our IPO prospectus and are summarized in this Risk Report-

ing section. None of our products have yet completed 

clinical trials nor are they approved by any regulatory au-

thority or marketed and sold yet. The possible impact of 

even just a single inconclusive clinical study became very 

apparent following our ad hoc notifi cation of the Tamoxi-

fen study results on October 31, 2005.

Our revenue in 2005 as well as for the near future 

depend almost entirely on partners’ research and develop-

ment funding, milestones and certain reimbursements. 

Also, there is a strong dependency on Roche Diagnostics 

as a partner with over 84 % of our total revenue stemming 

from that partnership. Whilst new collaboration agreements 

in our SBU Clinical Solutions have allowed us to somewhat 

diversify our revenue generation basis, all of these partner-

ships are relatively early-stage and need to demonstrate 

their commercial potential in the future.

Business-related risks. Due to the stage of maturity of 

our products and technology, a key risk is the ability of DNA 

methylation assays to achieve the performance necessary 

for the diagnostic and pharmacodiagnostic tests we devel-

op in cancer, or its applicability beyond cancer. This will 

determine the success of our clinical studies as well as rev-

enue from our partnerships and ultimately product-based 

revenue such as royalties. 
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In a space as dynamic and attractive as molecular diag-

nostics, there is an ever-intensifying degree of competition 

that could reduce or eliminate the competitive edge of our 

approach. The DNA methylation space has seen signifi -

cantly intensifi ed competition over the past twelve months 

too.

Lack of success in delivering the clinical sensitivity and 

specifi city of our tests in colon, prostate and breast cancer 

indications could lead to a termination or reduction in size 

of our current Roche partnership, which is the main source 

of current and near-term revenue. Delays or failure to devel-

op these tests, patient sample access, failure to obtain regu-

latory approval, failure of the underlying drug programs in 

pharmacodiagnostics, lack of market acceptance and pene-

tration, resistance by the pharma industry against pharma-

codiagnostics, payor resistance to reimburse our tests 

would all have material impact on our revenue, earnings, 

fi nancial position and our ability to raise further capital. 

Similar risks exist in all other partnered programs as well 

and might also make the entering into additional alliances 

harder or even impossible. 

Epigenomics today does not yet have access to an own 

hardware or device platform to run commercial diagnostic 

or pharmacodiagnostic tests and therefore heavily relies on 

its partner Roche for such a market outlet. 

Also, Epigenomics as of 2005 does not yet have the 

full capabilities to run clinical trials alone, manufacture our 

tests, obtain regulatory approval or market and sell these 

products effectively. However, by establishing a clinical, 

regu latory and quality management group headed by an 

experienced manager, we have started to address this risk 

proactively.

All of the above we try to manage effectively by keep-

ing close relations and open interactions with all our part-

ners, by creating a balanced portfolio of varying types of 

risks in terms of required technologies, assay systems, clini-

cal questions, timelines and by having a set of partners as 

well as own in-house product development programs we 

work on. We also strive towards obtaining access to those 

components of the value chain we currently do not control 

through partnering and other commercial arrangements, 

gradual forward integration and selective investment into 

such complementary skills and capabilities. Wherever pos s-

ible and economically viable, we have taken out insurance 

against loss of data and facilities, downtime, theft, hazards, 

liabilities etc., and we regularly monitor the appropriateness 

of the level of our insurance coverage.

Also, to successfully implement our business strategy, 

we rely on highly skilled, motivated, and loyal employees. 

We have therefore implemented management assessment 

programs, tailored training and coaching measures, incen-

tive and retention programs to ensure the continued success 

in hiring and keeping the best teams for our businesses. 

Our internal policies aim at establishing, nurturing and main-

taining a culture of risk awareness and feeling responsible 

for risk management at every level.

Epigenomics is furthermore subject to signifi cant 

dependencies on its suppliers of critical patient samples, 

components of our tests and materials for all our R&D 

programs. Delays, higher costs, lack of available supplies 

in a timely and effective manner could seriously hamper 

individual product development projects and operations 

inside Epigenomics. To mitigate this risk, we work with 

second-source suppliers wherever possible, have supplier 

audits in place for critical components and continuously 

strive towards optimizing our purchasing efforts.

IP-related risks. Our business relies very heavily on 

commercializing our intellectual property in the form of 

know-how as well as licenses to patents and patent appli-

cations. Therefore, any negative impact on scope, duration, 

depth and breadth of claims granted, regional coverage, 

competing IP that we could depend on, diffi culties in 

enforcing the protection, inadvertently infringing other IP, 

preventing others from infringing our IP, our ability to in-

license key IP etc., would negatively impact our cost base, 

our ability to compete as well as to commercialize our 

products and to close alliances, our revenue and ultimately 

our earnings and overall commercial success. 

Risks related to the regulatory environment. 
The regulatory environment in molecular diagnostics and 

pharmacodiagnostics is evolving rapidly and this could 

signifi cantly impact the timing, cost and our ability to meet 
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such regulatory standards. In parts, the regulatory frame-

works are not fully established or clarifi ed. This in turn could 

negatively impact on revenue generation, burden our cost 

base and earnings, fi nancial position and ability to compete 

effectively. To mitigate this risk, we have established a cor-

porate function dealing with quality systems as well as clini-

cal and regulatory affairs and we rely on experienced ad-

visors to prepare the organization for any potential issues.

Financial risks. Operating in Germany as well as the 

U.S.A. means we are subject to a foreign exchange rate risk 

even though it is almost exclusively limited to the euro-

U.S.$ relation. We monitor this risk on a regular basis and 

evaluate as the cases arise whether hedging transactions 

could minimize the exposures.

Our portfolio of securities and cash equivalents also 

bears a liquidity risk as the issuers of those securities could 

be temporarily or permanently late in repayments or dis-

tributions and therefore we might not be able to obtain the 

necessary liquidity. We are addressing this risk by continu-

ous market observation and reacting immediately to threat-

ening bottlenecks. In this context, we sold all our shares 

in open real estate funds shortly after balance sheet date 

when individual problems of such funds in the German 

market began to accumulate.

Our portfolio of securities faces also price risks in the 

form of interest rate, issuer and impairment risks. Though 

our investment policy stipulates to open only positions with 

an “investment grade” rating, sudden collapses like the 

recent AHBR case are unfore seeable. As a reaction to this 

shortfall, we will further limit the alternatives in investing 

and reduce previous yield expectations simultaneously. In 

close cooperation with our banks, advisors, the Audit and 

Corporate Governance Committee of the Supervisory Board 

and internal functions we aim continuously at fi nding ap-

propriate balance between exposure to these risks, obtaining 

a suffi cient interest yield and minimizing our U.S. currency 

exposure.

Other risks. Further, we continuously monitor all appli-

cable environmental, health and safety, operational as well 

as other applicable statutory or industrial guidelines and 

have implemented functions to comply with all of these 

effectively at each of our business locations. 

To minimize the manifold tax, corporate, employ-

ment, competition, IP and other legal frameworks, we base 

our decision making and design of our policies and pro-

cesses on the advice of external as well as internal experts 

in each of these areas. Wherever appropriate and indicated, 

we set aside provisions to cover any potential liability.

There are risks specifi cally associated with our stock: 

the large holdings of a small number of venture capital (VC) 

funds and institutional shareholders in Epigenomics shares 

even after the VC lock-up expiry; comparatively low levels 

of liquidity in the stock; high volatility based on all of the 

above-described factors, as well as external infl uences and 

negative perception by others of any share sale either by 

management or VC investors. 

There could potentially be other risks beyond the ones 

described here that we currently either deem insignifi cant 

or are not aware of at the time of this report.

................................................................................

P R O G N O S I S  R E P O R T
................................................................................

Further clinical product validation 

and Roche licensing milestones; 

expand partnership base; launch of 

fi rst research products; progress 

own product development; leverage 

IP position. 
................................................................................

Economic environment. We anticipate continuing 

tough economic circumstances in both Europe as well as 

the U.S.A. Especially in Germany, given the need to consoli-

date public fi nances, economic growth is expected to not 

accelerate as fast as required to have signifi cant impact on 

labor markets and the local economy. This in turn should 
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lead to only moderate increases in costs for supplies and 

staff. Given that energy prices seem to have peaked for 

the short term, in fl ation is not expected to have a very sig-

nifi cant impact on 2006 operating costs either in Germany 

or in the U.S.A., although health care costs especially in the 

U.S.A. continue rising at high rates. However, the proposed 

increase in German VAT starting in 2007 could drive infl ation 

upwards and put pressure on employers to compensate by 

raising staff costs accordingly.

In line with the consensus view of most major banks, 

we expect the U.S.$ will remain relatively weak in the me-

dium term, which will in turn benefi t Epigenomics’ cost of 

operations in Seattle vis-à-vis costs in Berlin in euro terms. 

However, pharmaceutical companies are used to purchase 

R&D collaborative programs in U.S.$ such that continuing 

price pressure on these deals is anticipated. Also, in the short 

term it is not unlikely that exchange rate levels will move 

in favor of the U.S.$ and hence could lead to increased costs 

in fi nancing our U.S. operations.

Continued geopolitical uncertainty in many regions 

will have a persistent impact on equity capital markets. 

Despite strong year-end performance in the stock markets 

in general and in Germany in particular, we anticipate to 

see the biotech sector underperforming other sectors in Ger-

many in particular. Much will depend on the successful 

completion of other biotech IPOs in Germany and Europe in 

2006, as well as above-issue price trading of biotech IPOs 

completed over the past 24 months to bring back some in-

vestor confi dence into the sector overall. Also, with relent-

less political pressure towards job creation, there is some 

scope for improving the fi scal and legal environment for 

highly innovative technology companies by the newly elect-

ed German government. 

Regulatory pressure on pharma companies worldwide 

to integrate pharmacogenomics into their drug develop-

ment in order to avoid future cases of serious safety or effi -

cacy concerns are expected to slowly but steadily increase. 

This will raise the awareness and perceived need by these 

companies to integrate pharmacodiagnostic efforts into 

their programs. Also, with recommendations for reimburse-

ment of early detection especially in cancer by the U.S. 

government and other bodies and massive popular aware-

ness campaigns, the overall perception of cancer screening 

for the masses will steadily improve. As pharmacoeconomic 

arguments continue to be built for saving signifi cant costs 

by avoiding unnecessary or inappropriate treatments, the 

contribution of diagnostics towards such end is expected 

to increase over the longer term.

Business strategy. The overriding goal of our corporate 

and business strategy is to develop novel molecular diag-

nostic tests for the early detection of cancer as well as tumor 

aggressiveness to improve treatment choices for patients. 

By addressing these unmet medical needs we intend to cre-

ate and grow shareholder value. At the same time, we want 

to build and maintain excellent employee and stakeholder 

relationships, be a reliable and valued partner to the diag-

nostics, pharmaceutical and biotech industries and take an 

active and involved role in our local communities and our 

industry as good corporate citizen.

A major part of Epigenomics’ business strategy con-

tinues to be the execution of the Diagnostics product 

deve lopment programs in our R&D and commercialization 

alliance with Roche Diagnostics. Also, in our Clinical Solu-

tions business, we expect to deliver results in our partnered 

programs. Going forward, the SBU Clinical Solutions will be 

focused entirely on delivering clinical biomarker studies and 

offer solutions to its partners and customers. All product 

development, both partnered as well as own programs will 

be managed in our SBU Diagnostics.

Both SBUs plan to intensify their efforts towards 

more collaborative agreements to develop and commercial-

ize DNA methylation-based molecular diagnostic tests. 

Epigenomics continues its two-pronged approach to also 

implement measures allowing our gradual forward inte-

gration. The SBU Diagnostics has initiated internally funded 

product development programs with a continued focus 

on oncology tests, but also include some early work on en-

dometriosis, an indication beyond oncology demonstrating 

the broad applicability of DNA methylation. 
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Following intensive feasibility and evaluation, efforts 

are well underway to negotiate an agreement that would 

give us access to a testing platform for DNA methylation 

analysis outside the Roche agreement. Epigenomics con-

siders it necessary to develop and bring in-house certain 

capabilities with regard to clinical study design, execution, 

and regulatory affairs expertise, as well as strategic mar-

keting expertise assessing alternatives to a purely partner-

ing-based approach to develop and commercialize our 

future tests. 

Overall, our strategy will remain focused on develop-

ing and commercializing innovative molecular diagnostic 

and pharmacodiagnostic products in oncology and other 

disease indications, leverage our leading intellectual prop-

erty estate in DNA methylation, offering clinical biomarker 

solutions, while complementing the skills and expertise 

available today with those needed to emerge as a potential 

leader in the emerging molecular diagnostics space. 

Epigenomics‘ strategy and business models offer 

signifi cant opportunities for growth in shareholder value 

and future profi tability. We believe that partnering some 

of our product developments reduces short-term cash need 

whilst offering an attractive milestone and royalty-based 

upside potential once partners launch tests based on our 

tech nology and IP. 

Broadening the customer base in our SBU Clinical 

Solutions offers a clear path to gain wide-spread acceptance 

of our DNA methylation solutions as gold standard through-

out the pharmaceutical and biotech industry. Also, making 

available selective IP via an out-licensing effort provides 

us with signifi cant short-term cash infl ow opportunity and 

also attractive, long-term continuous income streams via 

royalties and license fees. 

The biggest potential opportunity in the long run is 

expected to be accessed via a growing pipeline of our own 

Epigenomics products. Rather than relying on partners 

for critical steps of the value chain and relinquishing control 

over marketing, pricing, positioning etc., management 

believes that having control over such aspects offers the 

option to become a more fully integrated molecular diag-

nostics company relying on product revenues and margins 

rather than just R&D collaboration funding or royalties. 

This provides us with the opportunity for a long-term sus-

tainable business based on growing revenue and height-

ened self-suffi ciency.

Financing strategy. Our fi nancing strategy is tailored 

towards a conservative approach with the overriding goal 

of ensuring suffi cient liquidity for our operations based on 

the available funds today. Virtually all operations are funded 

solely through equity capital raised in several venture capi-

tal rounds as well as our IPO in July 2004. At the end of 

2005, the balance sheet is virtually debt-free.

Our treasury and investment policy is in line with 

these goals and ensures we maintain a diversifi ed portfolio 

of cash, cash equivalents as well as marketable and held-

to-maturity securities. Our aim is to avoid any overexposure 

to any particular issuer, type of investment, maturity, or 

other investment risk. A key element in our treasury and in-

vestment policies is maintaining relationships with three 

major banks assisting with the investment portfolio manage-

ment. Strategically we aim at reducing the overall risk level 

in terms of exposure to price drops in available-for-sale se-

curities by reducing our holdings and taking full advantage 

of the signifi cantly higher U.S.$ interest rates – which we 

see continuing to exceed European interest rates through-

out the next several quarters.

We closely monitor the capital markets and investor 

base to evaluate opportunities for further increasing the 

free fl oat in Epigenomics’ shares that allow our VC share-

holders to reduce some of their holdings. We furthermore 

continuously assess the equity capital markets environment 

in terms of their ability to satisfy future fi nancing needs.

Goals for 2006 and beyond. Our operating plans 

are based on a EUR/U.S.$ exchange rate in line with recent 

levels and a largely unchanged macroeconomic and politi-

cal environment. Thereby, we believe to continue to be able 

to benefi t from a revenue base in euro and a signifi cant 

portion of our operational costs in U.S.$. Epigenomics 

Consolidated Management Report
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expects to achieve its 2006 and 2007 goals with a head-

count quite similar to year-end 2005 and a similar split be-

tween its operations in Berlin and in Seattle.

In our Diagnostics business we expect completing 

further important large clinical testing and validation studies 

in our Roche program. We anticipate publishing further 

details and results from these studies in 2006 and beyond. 

Both, our body-fl uid-based early detection products for 

colon cancer screening, possible further screening tests, as 

well as our tissue-based tests in prostate and breast cancer 

relapse prediction will play an important part in that. Over-

all, this should help maintaining signifi cant revenue in our 

SBU Diagnostics compared to 2005 over the next two years.

In our Clinical Solutions business we aim at adding 

new initial partnerships with leading pharmaceutical or bio-

tech companies, delivering promising results to our current 

partners and expanding or extending ongoing relation ships 

towards integrated clinical biomarker solutions. Revenue is 

also expected to grow compared to 2005 over the next two 

years correcting for the effect of the discontinuation of 

Roche revenue previously recognized in our Clinical Sol-

utions business.

A key strategic goal for 2006 and 2007 remains to 

gain signifi cantly more visibility on our own, non-partnered 

product development programs by focusing our pipeline 

of tests under development on opportunities that we can 

address on our own. Initial data would likely become avail-

able from 2006 onwards.

Given, that we expect to start investing signifi cant 

parts of our R&D budget into our own product develop-

ment as well as facing sizeable costs of being a public com-

pany, we expect net losses to remain at a similar or higher 

level compared to 2005 for the next two years and a higher 

cash consumption.

Management currently expects revenue for 2006 to 

lag behind 2005 revenue and be broadly in line with 2004 

revenue. This is due to the evolving nature of our Roche 

Diagnostics partnership as well as increased focus on own 

product developments with no corresponding R&D part-

nership revenue for our SBU Diagnostics in 2006. 2007 offers 

the opportunity for fi rst sales to reference labs. Signifi cant 

revenue from own product sales is not expected before 

2008 and beyond. 

Our SBU Clinical Solutions revenue is expected to 

grow entirely independent from our Roche collaboration 

and total revenue should be similar to 2005 actuals for 

that segment in 2006 growing by double-digit percentages 

in 2007 and beyond. Our out-licensing effort will begin to 

contribute signifi cant amounts to 2006 revenue with further 

growth in 2007 and beyond. 

Whilst we expect a positive net contribution from 

our licensing effort even in its fi rst year, it will not be before 

2007 that our SBU Clinical Solutions could begin to posi-

tively contribute to the Epigenomics bottom line. For our 

SBU Diagnostics it will be a precondition that either Roche 

and/or Epigenomics have successfully launched fi rst prod-

ucts for a positive segment contribution. Hence manage-

ment expects a signifi cant negative net contribution margin 

from its Diagnostics business for both 2006 and 2007. 

Assuming moderate increases in operating costs, 

mainly driven by own product development efforts, overall 

EBIT is expected to fall short of 2004 and 2005 actuals. It 

is quite common for biotech companies in later stages of 

clinical development to have signifi cant dips in earnings 

and increased cash requirements before obtaining regula-

tory approval for partnered or own products with corre-

sponding surges in revenue and cash infl ows. Management 

sees no reason for Epigenomics to not follow a similar 

pattern in 2006 and 2007 with lower earnings and higher 

net cash required signifi cantly above the amounts of 2004 

and 2005.

Consolidated Management Report
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    2004
EUR thousand Notes 2005 restated1)

Revenue 2 9,594 7,931

Cost of sales 3 – 7,690 – 6,422

Gross profi t 3 1,904 1,509

Other income 4 1,527 1,202

Research and development costs 5 – 8,121 – 7,336

Marketing and business development costs 6 – 1,523 – 1,471

General and administrative costs 7 – 3,844 – 3,831

Other expenses 9 – 177 – 424

 – thereof amortization of goodwill  0 – 56

Operating result (EBIT) 10 – 10,234 – 10,351

Financial result 11 226 – 569

Net loss before taxes on income  – 10,008 – 10,920

Taxes on income 12 1,221 – 55

Net loss for the year  – 8,788 – 10,975

Earnings per share (basic) in EUR 13 – 0.54 – 0.80

1) after fi rst-time application of IFRS 2 and reclassifi cation of IP costs (see notes to the Group income statement)  

Group Income Statement
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Assets

EUR thousand Notes Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

Non-current assets
 Intangible assets 15 5,183 5,534
  thereof goodwill 16 2,625 2,625
 Tangible assets 17 2,000 2,350
 Financial assets 18 1,000 1,763
  thereof shares in associated companies  0 13
 Deferred taxes 19 1,258 0
 Other non-current assets  30 30

Total non-current assets  9,471 9,677

Current assets
 Inventories 20 208 115
 Trade and other receivables 21 734 752
 Marketable securities 22 9,173 8,873
 Cash and cash equivalents 23 23,519 32,166
 Other current assets 24 1,892 1,702

Total current assets  35,526 43,607

Total assets  44,997 53,284

Group Balance Sheet

Equity and Liabilities

EUR thousand Notes Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

Equity
 Subscribed capital 25/26 16,403 16,334
 Capital reserve 25/27 32,072 42,364
 Net loss for the year 25 – 8,788 – 11,009
 Other comprehensive income 25/28 – 312 50
Total equity  39,375 47,739

Non-current liabilities
 Liabilities from leasing contracts  4 41
Total non-current liabilities  4 41

Current liabilities
 Trade payables  1,060 1,105
 Silent partnerships  0 13
 Liabilities from leasing contracts  40 43
 Deferred income 29 2,168 3,187
 Other liabilities 30 1,553 345
 Provisions 31 797 811
Total current liabilities  5,618 5,504

Total equity and liabilities  44,997 53,284
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EUR thousand Notes 2005 2004

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  32,166 18,419

Operating activities 32
Net loss before taxes on income  – 10,008 – 10,920
Corrections for:
 Depreciation on tangible assets  1,118 1,092
 Amortization of intangible assets  556 352
 Losses (2004: gains) from the disposal of assets  13 – 7
 Write-off of other current assets  0 125
 Bad debt losses  0 74
 Stock option expenses 8/25 284 482
 Foreign currency exchange gains (2004: losses)  – 249 79
 Price losses of securities  889 0
 Other fi nancing expenses  0 485
 Interest income 11 – 1,155 – 816
 Interest expenses 11 40 277
 Taxes  – 112 – 55
 Infl ows not affecting net income  145 0
Operating result before changes in net current assets  – 8,480 – 8,831
 Decrease in trade receivables and other current assets  51 855
 Increase (2004: decrease) in inventories  – 95 53
 Increase (2004: decrease) in current liabilities  264 – 1,625
Liquidity earned from operating activities  – 8,260 – 9,548
 Interest received  759 663
Cash fl ow from operating activities  – 7,501 – 8,885

Investing activities 33
 Payments for investments in tangible assets  – 1,004 – 773
 Proceeds from investment grants 14 213 221
 Payments for investments in intangible assets  – 203 – 52
 Proceeds from (2004: payments for) investments in fi nancial assets  761 – 1,750
 Proceeds from the sale of marketable securities  7,778 2,297
 Payments for the purchase of marketable securities  – 9,234 – 10,157
Cash fl ow from investing activities  – 1,689 – 10,214

Financing activities 34
 Payments for the collection of warrants issued  0 – 3
 Repayments of silent partnerships  0 – 4,057
 Interest payments for silent partnerships  – 13 – 360
 Payments for lease fi nancing  – 41 – 50
 Payments for the creation of new shares  0 – 4,370
 Proceeds from the issue of new shares  0 41,597
 Proceeds from the excercise of stock options 26/27 282 0
Cash fl ow from fi nancing activities  228 32,757
Cash fl ow  – 8,962 13,658

 Currency adjustments  314 88

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  23,519 32,166

Group Cash Flow Statement



59

   Sub-    Other 
   scribed Capital Retained Net loss for compreh. Group
EUR thousand Notes capital reserve earnings the year income equity

Dec 31, 2004 (restated)  16,334 42,364 – 11,009 0 50 47,739

Net loss for 2005  0 0 0 – 8,788 0 – 8,788

Fair value adjustments of securities 28 0 0 0 0 – 361 – 361

Total comprehensive income  0 0 0 – 8,788 – 361 – 9,149

Excercise of stock options 26/27 69 213 0 0 0 282

Stock-based compensation 8 0 284 0 0 0 284

Financing costs 27 0 220 0 0 0 220

Deduction of stock option 

expenses 2003 25 0 – 35 35 0 0 0

Deduction of net loss 

for the year 2004  0 – 10,974 10,974 0 0 0

Dec 31, 2005  16,403 32,072 0 – 8,788 – 311 39,376

Statement of Changes in Group Equity

Consolidated Financial Statements

   Sub-    Other 
   scribed Capital Retained Net loss for compreh. Group
EUR thousand Notes capital reserve earnings the year income equity

Dec 31, 2003 (previously reported)  11,353 13,077 – 6,710 0 – 7 17,713 

Stock-based compensation 25 0 35 0 – 35 0 0

Dec 31, 2003 (restated)  11,353 13,112 – 6,710 – 35 – 7 17,713 

Net loss for 2004  0 0 0 – 10,974 0 – 10,974

Fair value adjustments of securities  0 0 0 0 57 57

Total comprehensive income  0 0 0 – 10,974 57 – 10,917

Capital increase from the issue of shares  4,622 0 0 0 0 4,622

Premium from the issue of shares  0 36,975 0 0 0 36,975

Financing costs  0 – 4,370 0 0 0 – 4,370

Conversion of silent partnership 

into shares  359 2,876 0 0 0 3,235

Stock-based compensation 25 0 482 0 0 0 482

Deduction of net loss for the year 2003  0 – 6,710 6,710 0 0 0

Dec 31, 2004 (restated)  16,334 42,364 0 – 11,009 50 47,739
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B A S I C  I N F O R M AT I O N ,  P R I N C I P L E S  A N D  M E T H O D S
......................................................................................................................................................................

Description of business activity. Epigenomics AG (the “Company”) was founded in 1998 and has its headquarters 

in Berlin, Germany. It is registered in the commercial register (“Handelsregister”) Charlottenburg under the number HRB 

75861. In 2000, the Company was converted into a stock corporation and since July 19, 2004, it is listed in the “prime stan-

dard” segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: ECX).

In accordance with its Articles of Incorporation, the object of the Company is the development and marketing of 

procedures and devices for the production in quantity of particularly epigenetic parameters such as DNA methylation 

patterns as well as the information technology bases necessary for their procurement and evaluation. The initial focus of 

the Company lies on the development of novel diagnostic products for cancer.

General principles. The consolidated fi nancial statements of Epigenomics AG have been prepared according to Article 

315a of the German Commercial Code (“HGB”) and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) of the Interna-

tional Accounting Standards Board (IASB), London, in effect at the closing date December 31, 2005. 

The reporting period as defi ned in these consolidated fi nancial statements is the period from January 1, 2005, to 

December 31, 2005. The reporting currency is the euro. The income statement has been prepared using the cost of sales 

method.
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Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards. In the reporting year, the 

Group has adopted the following new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the IASB that are relevant to its 

operations and effective for accounting periods beginning on January 1, 2005:

•   New standard IFRS 2 (“Share-based Payment”)

•   Revisions to IAS 1 (“Presentation of Financial Statements”)

•   Revisions to IAS 21 (“The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”)

•   Revisions to IAS 32 (“Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation”) and IAS 39 (“Financial Instruments: Recogni-

tion and Measurement”).

The Group has not elected to adopt the new Standard IFRS 7 (“Financial Instruments: Disclosures”) in advance of its 

effective date January 1, 2007.

IFRS 2, Share-based Payment. IFRS 2 requires the recognition of equity-settled share-based payments at fair value at the 

date of grant. In former years and in the reporting year, the Group issued stock options to its Executive Board members and 

its employees that qualify for equity-settled share-based payment according to IFRS 2. The fi nancial effect of such pay-

ments has not been recognized prior to this fi rst-time adoption of IFRS 2. Now a retrospective application to all grants of 

stock options after November 7, 2002, that were unvested as of January 1, 2005, is required by this new standard. There-

fore it applies to all stock options granted by the Company in the years 2003 to 2005.

For the years 2003 and 2004, the expenses for stock options amounted to EUR 517 thousand. The balance sheets at 

December 31, 2003, and 2004, respectively have been restated to refl ect this impact. Further details are given in the equity 

section of the notes to the consolidated balance sheet.

IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation. The revision of IAS 32 has an impact on the consolidated 

fi nancial statements by some extended disclosures and information to be given on the fi nancial instruments held by the 

Group.

IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The revision of IAS 39 (amended version as of August 

2005) offers all applicants the so-called “fair value option” that permits entities to designate irrevocably on initial recogni-

tion any fi nancial asset or fi nancial liability as one to be measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in profi t 

or loss. The Group has not re-classifi ed any of its fi nancial instruments according to this option.

Management’s judgment and expectations. The management of the Company has made several judgments in 

the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies that have a signifi cant effect on the amounts recognized in the 

fi nancial statements. Those judgments concern the valuation of goodwill, the capitalization of development costs and the 

recognition of deferred taxes. The judgments are described for each relevant position in the enumeration of accounting 

policies.

Management’s expectations on the future are based on a scenario of moderate economic growth in the major coun-

tries (G-8 countries and Australia) over the next 3 – 5 years. The euro currency is expected to remain stable vis-à-vis the U.S. 

dollar. Dramatic changes in the legislation of the major countries that could signifi cantly affect the biotechnological indus-
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tries are not assumed. Changes in the tax laws of Germany and the U.S.A. are also not anticipated. All future scenarios further 

assume an essentially unchanged access to relevant clinical and biological data and resources for the execution of the 

Company’s commercial projects.

Consolidation group. The consolidated Group includes Epigenomics AG as the parent company (principal offi ce: 

Kleine Präsidentenstrasse 1, 10178 Berlin, Germany) and Epigenomics, Inc. (principal offi ce: Suite 300, 1000 Seneca Street, 

Seattle, WA 98101, U.S.A.), its wholly-owned subsidiary.

The two companies have submitted individual fi nancial statements for the reporting year independent of their con-

solidation. 

Epigenomics (France) SARL, which was wholly owned by Epigenomics AG, has been liquidated during 2005. It had not 

been included in the consolidated fi nancial statements in prior years. 

Principles of consolidation. In the consolidation of capital, the acquisition values of the investment are balanced 

with the share of equity capital applicable to them on the date of acquisition. A resulting difference is added to the assets 

and liabilities in the amount in which its current market value deviates from its carrying value. An amount in excess is 

capitalized as goodwill. Intercompany results, revenue, expenses, profi ts, receivables and payables between the Group 

companies are eliminated.

Accounting and valuation principles. Capitalized goodwill has to undergo an impairment test at least once a 

year according to IFRS 3 (“Business Combinations”) in connection with IAS 36 (“Impairment of Assets”). The regular appli-

cation of this impairment test is scheduled by the end of each calendar year, subsequent to the annual budgeting process 

of the Company. The recorded goodwill has been allocated to the SBU Diagnostics as cash-generating unit (CGU). The impair-

ment test compared the net carrying value of the assets of the SBU Diagnostics to their value in use. The value in use has 

been defi ned as the discounted future cash fl ows of the business unit. 

Management’s expectations regarding the future cash fl ows of the SBU Diagnostics were based on the most recent 

business plans and are, however, subject to risks and uncertainty. It is expected that the cooperation with Roche, as the key 

customer of the Diagnostics business, will be continued over the next fi nancial year and that new product developments 

will be started within this cooperation. An appropriate discount rate of 20 % has been applied. (For the generally underlying 

assumptions to the aforementioned business plans see also “Management’s judgments and expectations”). All of those 

assumptions are key sources of estimation uncertainty and bear a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of the capitalized goodwill. However, no impairment of the capitalized goodwill has been determined 

in 2005.

Other intangible assets than goodwill are valued at acquisition cost less planned amortization on a straight-line basis. 

Depending on the investment, between three years (software) and twenty years (patents) will be defi ned as useful life. For 

patents, the useful life in individual cases depends on the term of the patent protection. Amortization of intangible assets 

is allocated to the functional area in which they are used. IAS 38 (“Intangible Assets“) is applied. In accordance with this 

standard, an intangible asset is reported if it is likely that a future fi nancial advantage is associated with the use of such 

asset and that its cost can be reliably determined.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Tangible assets are estimated at acquisition or production costs, less planned depreciation caused by usage. Apart 

from directly calculable costs, pro-rata overhead and depreciation are also included in the production costs of internally 

produced equipment. Public and governmental investment grants lower acquisition or production costs. Interest on third-

party capital is not included in production costs. Repair costs are immediately calculated as an expense. Depreciation for 

leasehold improvements is applied on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the underlying leases. Mobile fi xed 

assets are depreciated in principle on a straight-line basis. The useful life is 3 – 8 years for technical and electronic equip-

ment and 5 –10 years for operational and offi ce equipment. 

Fully depreciated fi xed assets are shown under acquisition and production costs and accumulated depreciation until 

the assets in question are decommissioned. In the case of disposals, assets and related depreciation are eliminated from 

the accounts. Income resulting from disposal of assets (proceeds less residual carrying value) is shown in the income state-

ment under other income/ other expenses.

Investment grants and subsidies are offset directly against the subsidized assets, i. e. the asset value is reduced. The 

grant is thus liquidated by a depreciation of the reduced investment over the remaining term.

If the value of the fi xed capital assets calculated according to the above principles exceeds the fair value of these assets 

on the closing date, it will be taken into account with an unplanned depreciation. The amount to be adjusted is determined 

by sale proceeds or – if higher – the net present value of future cash fl ows estimated from value in use of the asset. An 

impairment test will be done annually for assets or groups of assets for which an unplanned decrease in value is assumed. 

If there is no longer any reason for unplanned depreciation, an appreciation will take place.

Securities held to maturity are shown under fi nancial assets, recognized at their amortized costs and accounted for 

at trade date. If such securities are disposed of or are determined to be impaired, the realized differentials are recognized 

through profi t or loss. An impairment is determined when the fair value of a fi nancial asset falls signifi cantly below its 

amortized acquisition costs and the resulting differential is expected to be permanent.

Deferred taxes are calculated according to the rules of IAS 12 (“Income Taxes”) and are recognized for temporary 

differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the fi nancial statements and the tax balance sheets of 

the companies involved. Further, deferred tax assets are recognized from tax loss carryforwards if a realization in the future 

is probable. If the realization is not probable, a valuation allowance is recognized against the tax loss carryforwards. 

The recognition of deferred taxes is based on the local tax rates enacted or the rates which are expected to apply at 

the times of realization. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if they are subject to compensation with regard to 

the same tax authority.

Because of the current organization of procedures and the limited storage capacity of the Company, no appreciable 

amount of inventories was held. Exceptions to this are oligonucleotides (samples of synthetically produced DNA) and natural 

(cell) tissue samples. These are assessed at acquisition or recovery costs. Sample tubes that have been opened are fully 

expensed in the income statement in the month of their fi rst use. All basic low-value consumables are valued at acquisition 

costs. A standardized consumption pattern is assumed.

Trade receivables are recognized at fair value, net of allowances for doubtful accounts.

According to the defi nitions of IAS 39.9 (“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”), marketable securi-

ties are classifi ed either as “fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss” or as “fi nancial assets available for sale”. 

Independent of this classifi cation they are recognized at fair value and accounted for at trade date. Changes in fair value are 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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recognized through profi t or loss or – if the securities classify for available-for-sale securities – in other comprehensive 

income until the securities are disposed of or are determined to be permanently impaired. Impairment losses recognized in 

profi t or loss are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of the instrument can be objectively determined.

Derivative fi nancial instruments are carried at fair value and accounted for at trade date. As a matter of principle, 

the fair values of derivative fi nancial instruments correspond to the market values. For unlisted derivatives the fair values 

are determined by individual settlement quotes from the Company’s house banks. Changes in the fair value of derivative 

fi nancial instruments are recognized through profi t or loss.

A cash equivalent is defi ned as being convertible on a short-term basis to a known amount of cash and carrying a 

low risk of changes in value (IAS 7.6 “Cash Flow Statements”). Instruments generally qualify as cash equivalents when they 

are more closely related to the money markets than to the bond markets (for example: money market funds) and are issued 

by a debtor rated “investment grade”. Paid premiums on fund shares are expensed immediately through profi t or loss.

Deferred income is recognized for grants and research and development payments (“R&D payments”) received in 

advance. Grants received in advance that were provided by the government or by comparable central, regional or local au-

thorities, are recognized through profi t or loss over the subsidized terms of each project according to its progress of ful-

fi llment. R&D payments received in advance from customers are deducted and recognized through profi t or loss over the 

term of the contract according to the progress of fulfi llment. No advance payments were received in the reporting year, 

which would have to be recognized through profi t or loss within a time frame of more than twelve months. 

Provisions are recognized in accordance with IAS 37 (“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”) if it 

is likely that a debt exists and a reliable estimate of the amount is possible.

Revenue from research and development collaboration agreements is recorded and recognized in accordance with 

the applicable performance requirements and terms of the respective contracts as contract research costs are incurred, 

including the percentage of completion basis. Milestone payments are recognized as revenue according to the milestone 

payment method. Revenue under the milestone payment method is recorded and recognized when acknowledgement 

of having achieved applicable performance requirements is received from the partner. Non-refundable up-front payments 

are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the maximum research term (i.e. including optional pro longation 

terms). Revenue from the sale of products and other services is recognized when delivery has taken place, transfer of risk has 

been completed, the amount of future returns can be reasonably estimated and collection of the receivable is probable.

Research costs shall not be capitalized according to IAS 38 (“Intangible Assets”). Development costs have to be capi-

talized if they can be clearly identifi ed as such in accordance with IAS 38.57 and it is equally clear that later cash fl ows have 

a high likelihood of being directly associated to them. To date, the Company has not capitalized any internal development 

costs, because management assumes that, due to the risks in the development phase, the conditions which would require 

the capitalization of development costs are not satisfi ed.

Management judgments in the application of accounting policies/assumptions and estimates. 
The preparation of the consolidated fi nancial statements in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

requires, in the case of several items, that assumptions or estimates be made that affect the valuation in the Group‘s 

balance sheet and/or the income statement. This also applies to the listing of contingent assets and liabilities. The actual 

amounts may vary from these assumptions and estimates. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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In particular, assumptions and estimates are required for:

•  determining if the criteria for the capitalization of development costs are met, 

•  testing a potential impairment of assets (especially regarding intangible assets like goodwill and licenses),

•  determining the terms of in-licensed intellectual property rights,

•  determining if deferred taxes are realizable, 

•  determining if securities classify as “held to maturity”, “available for sale” or “at fair value through profi t or loss”,

•  setting the parameters regarding the valuation of stock option grants,

•  accounting for provisions.

Currency translation. In the individual fi nancial statements, receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies are valued 

using the corresponding euro reference rate issued by the European Central Bank on the last business day prior to the clos-

ing date. Items that are hedged by forward transactions are valued at the forward price.

For consolidation purposes, the reporting currency of the U.S.-based Epigenomics, Inc. is the euro as well. Therefore, the 

translation risk from Epigenomics, Inc.’s functional currency (U.S. dollar) to the Group’s presentation currency (euro) lies 

completely in the individual fi nancial statements of this subsidiary and not in its consolidation. 

Exchange rate differences are recognized through profi t or loss.

The exchange rates of the U.S. dollar, the only major foreign currency for the consolidated fi nancial statements, changed 

during the reporting year as follows:

Reporting date rates

  Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

EUR / USD 1.1797 1.3621

Reporting date rates

  Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

EUR / USD 1.1797 1.3621

Average rates

  2005 2004

EUR / USD 1.2380 1.2466

Average rates

  2005 2004

EUR / USD 1.2380 1.2466

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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......................................................................................................................................................................

N O T E S  T O  T H E  G R O U P  I N C O M E  S TAT E M E N T
......................................................................................................................................................................

1. Adjustments to the income statement 2004. Effective January 1, 2005, the Company has adopted the new 

standard IFRS 2 (”Share-based Payment”). The fi rst-time application of this standard also requires a retrospective recording 

of expenses for stock options that were granted by the Company between November 7, 2002, and December 31, 2004, 

none of which were exercisable as of January 1, 2005. This leads to a restatement of the income statement of the Company 

for 2004. 

After improving internal reporting procedures and tools, the Company has further decided to also allocate the costs 

of intellectual property (“IP costs”) directly to the business units and to commercial projects, respectively. Regarding the 

future business strategies it became apparent, that such an allocation would signifi cantly enhance the informative value of 

the income statement. The effect of this new allocation method on the income statement of 2004 is shown together with 

the effect of the fi rst-time application of IFRS 2 in the following table (for more details on the breakdown of the restatement 

effect please refer to the segment section):  

2. Revenue. Total revenue in 2005 increased to EUR 9,594 thousand from EUR 7,931 thousand in the previous year. Service 

orders not yet completely fulfi lled as of the reporting date and milestone achievements account for the major portion of 

revenue in 2005. The increase of 21% in revenue was attributable to both business units. For the SBU Diagnostics it must 

be mentioned, that a notable bigger one-off effect (milestone revenue) has been recognized in 2005 according to the 

progress in the Roche collaboration.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Income statement

        Effect from 2004
  2004 Total IFRS 2 new cost before
EUR thousand restated change effect allocation restatement

Revenue 7,931 0 0 0 7,931

Cost of sales – 6,422 – 664 – 43 – 621 – 5,758

Gross profi t 1,509 – 664 – 43 – 621 2,174

 Gross margin in (%) 19    27

Other income 1,202 0 0 0 1,202

Research and development costs – 7,336 453 – 168 621 – 7,789

Marketing and business development costs – 1,471 – 149 – 149 0 – 1,322

General and administrative costs – 3,831 – 121 – 121 0 – 3,710

Other expenses – 424 0 0 0 – 424

Operating result (EBIT) – 10,351 – 482 – 482 0 – 9,868

(rounding differences possible)
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3. Cost of sales / gross profit. Cost of sales include the material and personnel expenses, IP costs and depreciation 

that can be directly allocated to the sales revenue as well as pro-rata overheads. 

The increased utilization of high-value materials – especially tissue samples – was a key driver for higher cost of sales 

in 2005 compared to 2004 (EUR 7,690 thousand vs. EUR 6,422 thousand). Costs for materials and consumables contained 

in the cost of sales climbed from EUR 1,716 thousand in 2004 to EUR 2,142 thousand in 2005. Depreciation and amortization 

contained in the cost of sales climbed from EUR 383 thousand in 2004 to EUR 546 thousand in 2005. Staff costs included in 

the cost of sales amounted to EUR 2,543 thousand. The gross profi t increased to EUR 1,904 thousand (2004: EUR 1,509 thou-

sand), i.e. to a gross margin of 20 % (2004: 19 %). 

The income from option excercises was recognized as premium on the exercise of conversion rights to shares of Orca 

Biosciences. This company was the predecessor of today’s Epigenomics, Inc.

5. Research and development costs (R&D costs). The following are recorded as research and development costs:

•   the direct personnel and material expenses of the R&D divisions;

•   the depreciation of the R&D divisions; 

•   the other direct expenses of the R&D divisions;

•   the pro-rata overheads of the R&D divisions.

The R&D costs of EUR 8,121 thousand (2004: EUR 7,336 thousand) include depreciation and amortization of 

EUR 1,170 thousand (2004: EUR 816 thousand) and costs for materials and consumables of EUR 903 thousand 

(2004: EUR 1,249 thousand). Staff costs included in the R&D costs of 2005 amounted to EUR 4,135 thousand. 

6. Marketing and business development costs (M&BD costs). The following are recorded as marketing 

and business development expenses:

•   the direct personnel and material expenses of the M&BD divisions;

•   the depreciation of the M&BD divisions;

•   the other direct expenses of the M&BD divisions;

•   the pro-rata overheads of the M&BD divisions.

In the reporting year, marketing and business development costs comprised depreciation and amortization of 

EUR 9 thousand and staff costs of EUR 827 thousand.

4. Other income

EUR thousand 2005 2004

Third-party research grants  699 849

Exchange gains from currency conversion  369 248

Income from option exercises  334 0

Income from liquidation of provisions  95 22

Insurance recoveries 0 54

Other  30 29

Total  1,527 1,202

4. Other income

EUR thousand 2005 2004

Third-party research grants  699 849

Exchange gains from currency conversion  369 248

Income from option exercises  334 0

Income from liquidation of provisions  95 22

Insurance recoveries 0 54

Other  30 29

Total  1,527 1,202

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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7. General and administrative costs. The following are recorded as general and administrative costs:

•   the direct personnel and material expenses of the administrative divisions;

•   the depreciation of the administrative divisions;

•   the other direct expenses of the administrative divisions;

•   the pro-rata overheads of the administrative divisions,

if the costs listed are not carried forward as internal services. The administrative divisions comprise the business depart-

ments and systems administration. 

In the reporting year, general and administrative costs contained depreciation and amortization of EUR 165 thousand 

and staff costs of EUR 1,685 thousand.

8. Personnel costs. The personnel costs for 2004 have been restated as a consequence of the fi rst-time application of 

IFRS 2 (“Share-based Payment”). 

 

10. Operating result (EBIT). The recorded loss before interest and taxes (EBIT) in the reporting year of EUR 10,234 thou-

sand is slightly lower by EUR 117 thousand than the loss before interest and taxes in 2004. The loss before interest and taxes, 

depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) decreased by EUR 344 thousand to EUR 8,560 thousand.

EUR thousand 2005 2004

Personnel remuneration  7,960 7,296

Stock options 284 482

Social security expenses  1,239 1,100

Total personnel costs  9,483 8,878

Employees (average) 145 145

Personnel costs/employee 65.4 61.2 

9. Other expenses

EUR thousand 2005 2004

Banking fees related to the IPO 125 0

Exchange losses from currency conversion 42 245

Losses from disposal of assets 7 2

Appropriation to provisions 0 75

Amortization of goodwill  0 56

VAT correction expenses 0 24

Final adjustments on granted payments 0 19

Other  3 3

Total  177 424

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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The other fi nancial expenses include impairment losses of available-for-sale securities of EUR 695 thousand. These losses 

are related exclusively to participation rights in German mortgage bank AHBR which struggles with fi nancial diffi culties. 

There is objective evidence that a full repayment of those participation rights can not be expected anymore at due date in 

the year 2009. The valuation of these rights is based on their stock exchange price at balance sheet date.

12. Taxes. The income tax benefi t in the amount of EUR 1,221 thousand (2004: expense of EUR 55 thousand) comprise 

taxes recorded by the U.S. subsidiary in Seattle. 

Deferred tax income was calculated on the tax loss carryforwards of Epigenomics, Inc. as a consequence of the existing 

transfer price agreement between the German Epigenomics AG and its U.S. subsidiary. The usage of a cost-plus method 

leads to a guaranteed annual profi t for Epigenomics, Inc., so that a utilization of its tax loss carryforwards in the foreseeable 

future is suffi ciently probable. A tax rate of 34 % was applied.

There are also tax loss carryforwards to record for Epigenomics AG in Germany with potential high net deferred tax 

revenues (approximately EUR 31.3 million at balance sheet date). As the current forecasts of the Company with regard to 

achieving the breakeven point are still subject to signifi cant uncertainty, valuation allowances have been recognized for all 

of the net deferred tax assets. 

13. Earnings per share. The earnings per share (basic) are calculated by dividing the Group’s net loss for the year by 

the weighted-average number of shares issued.

The outstanding stock options granted by the Company are antidilutive according to IAS 33.41 and 33.43. Therefore, the 

earnings per share (diluted) equal the earnings per share (basic). The number of shares issued as of the balance sheet date 

amounted to 16,403,178.

 

11. Financial result

EUR thousand 2005 2004

Interest and related income  1,155     816

Interest and related expenses  – 40 – 277

Other fi nancial income 90 0

Other fi nancial expenses – 979 – 1,108

Total fi nancial result  226 – 569 

EUR thousand 2005 2004

Current tax expenses 37 55

Deferred tax income – 1,258 0

Total taxes on income – 1,221 55

  2005 2004

Net loss for the year in EUR thousand – 8,788 – 10,975

Weighted-average number of shares issued 16,373,948 13,783,653

Earnings per share in EUR (basic) – 0.54 – 0.80

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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N O T E S  T O  T H E  G R O U P  B A L A N C E  S H E E T
......................................................................................................................................................................

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

 Acquisition Additions Disposals Reclassifi- Acquisition 
 costs   cations costs 
EUR thousand Jan 1, 2005 2005 2005 2005 Dec 31, 2005 

Intangible assets

Software 309 175 – 1 0 483 

Licenses and patents 3,579 30 0 0 3,609 

Goodwill 3,351 0 0 0 3,351 

Total intangible assets 7,239 205 – 1 0 7,443 

Tangible assets

Fixtures and leasehold improvements 627 165 – 31 99 860 

Technical equipment 5,175 520 – 352 241 5,584 

Other fi xed assets 93 4 – 21 0 76 

Prepayments and assets under construction 227 113 0 – 340 0 

Total tangible assets 6,121 802 – 404 0 6,520 

Financial assets

Shares in associated companies 13 0 – 13 0 0 

Investments 1,750 0 – 750 0 1,000 

Securities held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 

Total fi nancial assets 1,763 0 – 763  1,000 

Total assets 15,122 1,007 – 1,168 0 14,962 
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Accumulated Additions Disposals Accumulated Carrying Carrying
depreciation   depreciation value value 

Jan 1, 2005 2005 2005 Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004 

249 60 – 1 308 175 60

730 496 0 1,226 2,383 2,849

726 0 0 726 2,625 2,625

1,705 556 – 1 2,260 5,183 5,534

475 191 – 31 635 225 152

3,238 921 – 320 3,839 1,745 1,937

58 6 – 18 46 30 34

0 0 0 0 0 227

3,771 1,120 – 371 4,520 2,000 2,350

0 0 0 0 0 13

0 0 0 0 1,000 1,750

0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 1,000 1,763

5,476 1,674 – 370 6,780 8,182 9,647
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14. Investment subsidies. In the reporting period, investment subsidies affecting the carrying values were received by 

Epigenomics AG in Germany in the amount of EUR 213 thousand (2004: EUR 221 thousand). This relates to a government 

investment grant for investments in tangible assets and an investment subsidy that is tied to a project granted propor-

tionately by the EU and the Land of Berlin (“GA Funds”). 

15. Intangible assets. The value of the capitalized intangible assets dropped by EUR 351 thousand to EUR 5,183 thou-

sand during the reporting period. Reinvestments of negligible amounts were overcompensated by depreciation. 

The licenses and patents listed in the amount of EUR 2,383 thousand represent mainly acquisition costs for acquired 

patents and exclusive rights of use to patents of third parties. Those acquisition costs were caused usually by upfront 

payments. The majority of the licenses require the Company to pay additional annual minimum fees that are expensed im-

mediately. The license contracts can usually be cancelled at short notice. However, some of those licenses are vital for the 

Company’s business model.

16. Goodwill. The capitalized goodwill was tested for impairment in December 2005 in order to comply with IFRS 3/IAS 

36. It had originated in the acquisition of Orca Biosciences (now: Epigenomics, Inc.) in 2001 and is assigned in content to 

the SBU Diagnostics. No impairment had to be recognized.

17. Tangible assets. The net tangible fi xed assets were reduced during the reporting period by EUR 350 thousand to a 

current amount of EUR 2,000 thousand. Investment subsidies amounting to EUR 213 thousand have been received in the 

reporting period and were partly responsible for the net reduction of the carrying values. 

18. Financial assets. Financial assets at reporting date were down to EUR 1,000 thousand from EUR 1,763 thousand 

at December 31, 2004. The remaining amount exclusively represents a promissory note issued by a German special branch 

bank. Due date of this note is March 2011. The decrease in fi nancial assets during 2005 is due to the repayment of a 

long-term mortgage bond of EUR 750 thousand by the issuer and the closing down of the Company’s French subsidiary 

Epigenomics (France) S.A.R.L. This company had not been included in the consolidation prior to its closing down.

19. Deferred tax assets. At the reporting date deferred tax assets of EUR 1,258 thousand have been capitalized due to 

tax loss carryforwards of Epigenomics, Inc. (see under “Taxes”).

CURRENT ASSETS

20. Inventories. The stock in trade mainly consists of chemical and biological materials and consumables. It is mainly 

the stockpiling of tissue samples and oligonucleotides that are signifi cant. 

21. Trade and other receivables. Trade and other receivables listed in the amount of EUR 734 thousand (Dec 31, 2004: 

EUR 752 thousand) are comprised nearly exclusively of trade receivables towards foreign customers. There were no reasons 

for value adjustments of individual receivables at balance sheet date.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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22. Marketable securities. The marketable securities listed in the amount of EUR 9,173 thousand (Dec 31, 2004: 

EUR 8,873 thousand) included mainly marketable corporate bonds, mortgage bonds, bond fund shares and debt certifi cates 

of various maturities as well as call option rights on the purchase of U.S.$ in connection with the liquidity needs of the 

Company’s U.S. operations. Under the investment policy of the Company, each investment in securities underlies certain strict 

criteria. These include amongst others the limitation to securities nominated in euro currency only and an offi cial capital 

market rating of the issuer or the securities not below “investment grade”. All reported securities are underlying the usual 

market and interest risks. The interest rate risks are mostly price risks and for some securities there is also an interest rate 

cash fl ow risk. Currency risks are minimized by avoiding investments in securities nominated in currencies other than the 

euro. However, some of the investments are indirectly subject to currency risks as they might be linked or refer partially 

to non-euro nominations.

The fair value of all marketable securities is identifi ed by their stock exchange quotations at each relevant balance sheet 

date.

The investment strategy of the Company includes an allocation of the various securities to different remaining maturities.

EUR thousand Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

Corporate bonds 4,201 2,538

Bond fund shares 2,071 2,015

Bearer bonds 835 400

Mortgage bonds 623 1,299

Debt certifi cates 599 1,010

Index-linked bonds 510 628

Participation rights 270 983

Currency call options 64 0

Total 9,173 8,873

EUR thousand  Fair value

Time to maturity of marketable securities

 < 1 year  1,196

 1 – 2 years  0

 2 – 5 years  1,825

 > 5 years  4,084

 Unlimited  2,068

Total  9,173

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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23. Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents decreased to EUR 23,519 thousand at balance sheet date 

(Dec 31, 2004: EUR 32,166 thousand). More than 91% of those funds were nominated in euro currency at balance sheet date, 

the remainder is nominated in U.S. dollar currency. The total amount is allocated to four different banks. 

The reported fund shares are underlying very limited credit risks as well as low market and interest rate risks. The remain-

ing maturities of the time deposits were shorter than three months as of balance sheet date.

24. Other current assets

The total amount of other current assets of EUR 1,892 thousand includes non-marketable securities of EUR 38 thousand 

with a prospective maturity of more than one year.

EQUITY

25. Equity adjustments after first-time application of IFRS 2. The fi rst-time application of IFRS 2 (“Share-based 

Payment”) by the Company in the reporting year according to IFRS 2.55 has led to an adjustment of the opening balance 

sheets as of January 1, 2004, and 2005. As no stock options have been granted between November 7, 2002, and December 

31, 2002, the opening balance as of January 1, 2003, remained unchanged.

During the fi nancial years 2003 and 2004, the Company has granted 690,733 stock options to Executive Board mem-

bers and employees. Compensation expense recorded in 2003 and 2004 in connection with stock options was EUR 482 thou-

sand for 2004 and EUR 35 thousand for 2003, retroactively. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

EUR thousand Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

Receivables from tax authorities  911 460

Accrued income 365 291

Claims based on granted projects 305 603

Interest receivables 232 163

Claims based on external research cooperations  3 75

Equipment already delivered  0 59

Other 76 51

Total  1,892 1,702

EUR thousand Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

Open real estate fund shares 11,472 12,978

Asset-backed securities fund shares 6,145 8,110

Time deposits 5,620 3,580

Bank accounts, petty cash, cheques 282 239

Other cash equivalents 0 7,259

Total 23,519 32,166
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The fair value of the granted stock options was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. For all grant 

dates in 2003 and 2004 a risk-free interest rate of 3.00 % and a volatility of 35 % was assumed. The expected option term 

ranges from two to four years. Due to the lack of historic values to determine an individual volatility of the Epigenomics 

stock, a relevant sector index was applied. After the Company’s IPO, the individual volatility of the Epigenomics stock was 

checked on a trial basis and it became obvious that the sector index gave a realistic picture for the valuation of Epigenomics’ 

stock options. All stock options granted from April 2005 onwards are measured with the individual volatility of the Epi ge-

nomics stock based on the maximum term available each time, as long as the trading history of the Epigenomics stock is 

shorter than the expected exercise period of four years. No dividend yield is expected for the valuation period.

The weighted-average exercise price of all stock options reads EUR 4.53 each for all stock options granted in 2003 and 

EUR 4.57 each for all stock options granted in 2004. This refl ects that the majority of those options were granted prior to 

the Company’s IPO. In these cases the relevant option plans fi xed an exercise price, which equaled the market price at grant 

date increased by 10 %. The share price prior to the IPO was determined by the last private fi nancing round of the Company 

in March 2003 at EUR 4.12 each. To calculate the stock option expenses according to IFRS 2, an almost linear increase of the 

share price between March 2003 and July 2004 was assumed.

This calculation has consequences for the Company’s equity structure described as follows:

Opening balance as of Jan 1, 2004

Opening balance as of Jan 1, 2005

  After adjustment After adjustment
 Before adjustment of 2003 option  of 2004 option 
 of option expenses expenses acc. to IFRS 2 expenses acc. to IFRS 2
EUR thousand acc. to IFRS 2 (EUR 35 thousand) (EUR 482 thousand) Change

Subscribed capital 16,334 16,334 16,334 0

Capital reserve 41,848 41,883 42,365 517

Net loss for the year – 10,493 – 10,528 – 11,010 – 517

Other comprehensive income 50 50 50 0

Total equity  47,739 47,739 47,739 0

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

   After adjustment
  Before adjustment of 2003 option
  of 2003 option expenses acc. to IFRS 2
EUR thousand  expenses acc. to IFRS 2 (EUR 35 thousand) Change

Subscribed capital  11,353 11,353 0

Capital reserve  13,077 13,112 35

Net loss for the year  – 6,710 – 6,745 – 35

Other comprehensive income  – 7 – 7 0

Total equity   17,713 17,713 0
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26. Notes to share categories and capital structure. The share capital of Epigenomics AG comprises exclusively 

common shares with equal rights and a par value of EUR 1 each as of December 31, 2005. The number of shares increased 

during the reporting year from 16,334,229 to 16,403,178. All 68,949 new shares were created by the exercise of employee 

stock options.

Capital structure of Epigenomics AG as of December 31, 2005:

Conditional Capital I, III and IV can be used to create new shares upon the exercise of stock options granted under stock 

option programs of the Company. Authorized Capital III can be used by the Executive Board to increase, with the consent 

of the Supervisory Board, the Company’s share capital at any time or from time to time on or before June 22, 2009, by up 

to EUR 6 million by issuing up to 6,000,000 new no-par value bearer shares in return for cash contribution or con tribution 

in kind.

Conditional Capital II and Authorized Capital II have been revoked by the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting on 

June 28, 2005. 

27. Capital reserve. The capital reserve decreased in the reporting year from EUR 42,364 thousand (Dec 31, 2004) to 

EUR 32,072 thousand mainly due to the deduction of the net loss for the year 2004. This decrease was partly compensated 

by the paid-in surplus of exercised employee stock options (EUR 213 thousand), by the current stock option expense 

accounting according to IFRS 2 (EUR 284 thousand) and by a subsequent recognition of fi nancing costs for former periods 

(EUR 219 thousand).

28. Other comprehensive income. Other comprehensive income comprises changes in fair values of marketable 

securities. The sharp decrease in the reporting year from EUR 50 thousand (Dec 31, 2004) to EUR –312 thousand (Dec 31, 

2005) was mainly due to price losses in various bonds as a consequence of increased interest rates in Europe and the U.S.A.

EUR   Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

Share capital 16,403,178 16,334,229

Conditional Capital I 47,219 71,969

Conditional Capital II 0 68,000

Conditional Capital III 187,043 231,242

Conditional Capital IV 758,376 758,376

Authorized Capital II 0 140,523

Authorized Capital III 6,000,000 6,000,000

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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CURRENT LIABILITIES

29. Deferred income. Payments received in advance for services to render by Epigenomics AG in the future are recorded 

as deferred income. The payments received for commercial collaborations are recognized as revenue over the respective 

contractual terms. The payments received for granted projects are recognized as other income over the respective contractual 

terms. There is no repayment obligation.

30. Other liabilities

31. Provisions

EUR thousand Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

Payments for commercial collaborations 1,895 3,143

Payments for granted projects 273 44

Total  2,168 3,187

EUR thousand Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

Liabilities from external research cooperations 533 75

Payables due to staff 424 6

Payables due to social security institutions  136 128

Accrued Supervisory Board fees 119 0

Accrued audit fees 115 0

Payables due to tax authorities 114 96

Liabilities from derivative instruments 91 0

Other 21 40

Total  1,553 345

EUR thousand Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004

Payroll provisions 405 457

Provision for onerous lease contract 148 0

Granted projects 83 37

Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting 72 80

Royalty provisions 64 0

Supervisory Board fees 0 125

Audit services 0 84

Other 25 28

Total  797 811

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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N O T E S  T O  T H E  G R O U P  C A S H  F L O W  S TAT E M E N T
......................................................................................................................................................................

32. Operating activities. Cash fl ow from operations is derived indirectly on the basis of the net loss for the year before 

taxes on income. Cash comprises bank deposits and cash in hand. Cash equivalents are defi ned as instruments being con-

vertible on a short-term basis to a known amount of cash and carrying a very low risk of change in value.

33. Investing activities. Cash fl ow from investing activities is ascertained in respect of payment. For information on 

the reported proceeds from investment grants please refer to “Investment subsidies”.

34. Financing activities. Cash fl ow from fi nancing activities is ascertained in respect of payment. The interest payment 

for silent partnerships was due for a loan that had been repaid by the end of 2004.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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S E G M E N T  R E P O R T I N G
......................................................................................................................................................................

The Company’s business model is set up on two strategic business units (SBUs): Diagnostics and Clinical Solutions (formerly: 

Pharma Technology). The SBU Diagnostics develops diagnostic tests for the early detection, classifi cation and monitoring 

of cancer and commercializes these through in-vitro diagnostic partnerships such as the Roche Diagnostics alliance as well as 

own product development. The SBU Clinical Solutions focuses on programs that are geared towards analyzing biomarkers 

for specifi c cancer drugs and assisting partnering pharmaceutical and biotech companies in their respective drug develop-

ment programs.

The income statements for the SBUs do not contain any intersegment charges.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Segment result

  Diagnostics Clinical Solutions Other Epigenomics Total

EUR thousand 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Revenue 6,903 6,125 2,675 1,806 16 0 9,594 7,931

Cost of sales – 6,370 – 5,235 – 1,244 – 1,187 – 76 0 – 7,690 – 6,422

Gross profi t 533 890 1,431 619 – 60 0 1,904 1,509

 Gross margin in % 8 15 54 34   20 19

Other income 140 167 1 5 1,386 1,030 1,527 1,202

Research and development costs – 3,083 – 2,007 – 1,212 – 1,469 – 3,826 – 3,860 – 8,121 – 7,336

Marketing and business 

development costs – 601 – 485 – 598 – 715 – 324 – 271 – 1,523 – 1,471

General and administrative costs 0 0 0 0 – 3,844 – 3,831 – 3,844 – 3,831

Other expenses – 1 – 132 – 1 0 – 175 – 292 – 177 – 424

Segment result – 3,012 – 1,567 – 379 – 1,560 – 6,843 – 7,224 – 10,234 – 10,351

Segment assets/ liabilities

  Diagnostics Clinical Solutions Other Epigenomics Total

  Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31,
EUR thousand 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Segment assets 4,899 5,649 1,162 709 38,936 46,926 44,997 53,284

Segment  liabilities 404 282 180 147 5,038 5,116 5,622 5,545

Net segment assets 4,495 5,367 982 562 33,898 41,810 39,375 47,739

Investments in non-current assets 466 411 122 68 419 2,235 1,007 2,714

Depreciation and amortization 788 606 241 161 645 678 1,674 1,445
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  Other Epigenomics Total

  2004 IFRS 2 cost alloc. 2004 2004 IFRS 2 cost alloc. 2004
EUR thousand restated effect effect reported restated effect effect reported

Cost of sales 0 0 0 0 – 6,422 – 43 – 621 – 5,758

Gross profi t 0 0 0 0 1,509 – 43 – 621 2,173

 Gross margin in % 0   0 19   27

Research and development costs – 3,860 – 82 849 – 4,627 – 7,336 – 169 621 – 7,789

Marketing and business 

development costs – 271 0 0 – 271 – 1,471 – 149 0 – 1,322

General and administrative costs – 3,831 – 121 0 – 3,710 – 3,831 – 121 0 – 3,710

Segment result – 7,224 – 203 849 – 7,869 – 10,351 – 482 0 – 9,868

Segment result 2004 restatement

  Diagnostics Clinical Solutions

  2004 IFRS 2 cost alloc. 2004 2004 IFRS 2 cost alloc. 2004
EUR thousand restated effect effect reported restated effect effect reported

Cost of sales – 5,235 – 36 – 520 – 4,679 – 1,187 – 7 – 101 – 1,079

Gross profi t 890 – 36 – 520 1,446 619 – 7 – 101 727

 Gross margin in % 15   24 34   40

Research and development costs – 2,007 – 61 – 210 – 1,737 – 1,469 – 26 – 18 – 1,425

Marketing and business 

development costs – 485 – 107 0 – 378 – 715 – 42 0 – 673

General and administrative costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Segment result – 1,567 – 204 – 730 – 633 – 1,560 – 75 – 119 – 1,366

According to the fi rst-time application of IFRS 2 and the chosen new allocation method for IP costs (see also notes to 

the Group income statement), a restatement of some 2004 numbers in the segment result table and the segment assets/

liabilities table has been required. While the new cost allocation method had no effect on the bottom line of the income 

statement, the application of IFRS 2 led to additional costs of EUR 482 thousand for the Company as a whole. The following 

table shows the details of those effects.
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  Other Epigenomics Total

  Dec 31,    Dec 31, Dec 31,    Dec 31,
  2004 IFRS 2 cost alloc. 2004 2004 IFRS 2 cost alloc. 2004
EUR thousand restated effect effect reported restated effect effect reported

Segment assets 46,926 0 – 730 47,656 53,284 0 0 53,284

Segment liabilities 5,116 0 – 7 5,123 5,545 0 0 5,545

Net segment assets 41,810 0 – 723 42,533 47,739 0 0 47,739

Investments in non-current assets 2,235 0 – 75 2,310 2,714 0 0 2,714

Depreciation and amortization 678 0 – 101 779 1,445 0 0 1,445

Segment assets/ liabilities 2004 restatement

  Diagnostics Clinical Solutions

  Dec 31,    Dec 31, Dec 31,    Dec 31,
  2004 IFRS 2 cost alloc. 2004 2004 IFRS 2 cost alloc. 2004
EUR thousand restated effect effect reported restated effect effect reported

Segment assets 5,649 0 704 4,945 709 0 27 682

Segment liabilities 282 0 5 277 147 0 3 144

Net segment assets 5,367 0 699 4,668 562 0 24 538

Investments in non-current assets 411 0 72 339 68 0 3 65

Depreciation and amortization 606 0 87 519 161 0 14 147
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Segment result by region

EUR thousand 2005 2004

Total revenue 9,594 7,931

thereof Europe 8,949 7,711

in %  93 97

thereof North America 645 220

in %  7 3

Net segment assets by region

EUR thousand 2005 2004

Net segment assets 39,375 47,739 

thereof Europe 37,877 45,991

in %  96 96

thereof North America 1,498 1,748

in %  4 4

Investments 1,007 964

thereof Europe 709 677

in %  70 70

thereof North America 298 287

in %  30 30
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O T H E R  I N F O R M AT I O N
......................................................................................................................................................................

Notes to the stock option plans. As of the balance sheet date, the Epigenomics Group (via Epigenomics AG) had 

three fi xed stock option plans in place. Details of those plans can be found in the Company’s IPO prospectus and the con-

solidated fi nancial statements 2003, respectively. Both documents are available on the Company’s website. In general, the 

rights under all three programs are such that option holders can obtain shares in the Company by exercising their options 

once lock-up periods are over. In order for options to be exercisable the stock price must have appreciated by at least 10 % 

versus the stock price at grant. If employees leave the Company before the options are vested these are forfeited without 

compensation.

In 2005, a total number of 29,020 stock options were granted under the Company’s 03 - 07 stock option plan, which 

has been adopted by the resolution of our Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting on August 1, 2003. Each option right 

entitles the holder to subscribe to one bearer share of common stock with a par value of EUR 1 each in return for payment 

of the exercise price. The average exercise price for each of the new rights was fi xed at the average 20 previous trading 

days’ closing price at EUR 7.40. The aggregate proceeds to the Company if these options were exercised and shares were 

issued would amount to EUR 215 thousand. No stock options were granted to members of the Executive Board in the re-

porting year. A total number of 236,182 stock options can still be issued under the 01- 05 and 03 - 07 stock option plans. 

Details of share options granted in 2005

The option rights of all new holders will vest as follows: 25 % of the options will vest on the fi rst anniversary of the grant 

date, another 25 % on the second anniversary of the grant date, another 25 % upon the third anniversary of the grant date 

and the remaining 25 % upon the fourth anniversary of the grant date. All vested options may be exercised no earlier than 

the second anniversary of the grant date. 

After the end of the lock-up period for staff following the Company’s IPO in July 2004, the fi rst 68,949 option rights 

have been exercised in 2005 by employees as well as former employees. The weighted-average exercise price of those 

options was EUR 4.09 and the weighted-average share price upon exercise was EUR 6.78. A total number of 62,908 options 

with an exercise price of EUR 4.53 forfeited during the reporting period. The number of all outstanding options as of 

December 31, 2005, decreased to 746,069.

The Supervisory Board of the Company decided in accordance with the regulations of the 01- 05 and 03 - 07 stock op-

tion programs that all unvested options held by the Executive Board member R. Gary Schweikhardt shall vest upon his an-

nounced retirement on December 31, 2005. 

Expiry date Feb 29, 2012 July 31, 2012 Total 2012

Number 3,680 25,340 29,020

Exercise price (in EUR) 8.13 7.29  7.40

Aggregate proceeds if shares are issued (in EUR thousand) 30 185 215

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Terms of options outstanding at December 31:

  Options       Options
  issued Options Options  Options  issued
  as of issued forfeited exercised as of
Option holder Dec 31, 2004 in 2005 in 2005 in 2005 Dec 31, 2005

Alexander Olek, Ph.D. 86,613 0 0 0 86,613

Dr. Kurt Berlin 56,613 0 0 0 56,613

Aron Braun 56,613 0 31,613 0 25,000

Christian Piepenbrock 56,613 0 0 0 56,613

Oliver Schacht, Ph.D. 69,363 0 0 0 69,363

R. Gary Schweikhardt 106,643 0 0 0 106,643

Total Executive Board 432,458 0 31,613 0 400,845

Employees 416,448 29,020 31,295 68,949 345,224

Total options 848,906 29,020 62,908 68,949 746,069

 thereof exercisable     122,044

  Exercise price Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004
Expiry date in EUR number number

2008 1.76 12,750 12,750

   1.94 6,791 18,470

   4.53 35,920 66,973

2009 4.53 32,929 59,980

2010  4.53 97,264 105,703

2011  4.53 521,895 575,530

   7.15 9,500 9,500

2012  7.29 25,340 0

  8.13 3,680 0

Total   746,069 848,906

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Information on the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of the Company 
and their remuneration

Members of the Executive Board of the Company during the reporting year were:

•   Alexander Olek, Ph.D., Berlin (D), Chief Executive Offi cer

•   Dr. Kurt Berlin, Stahnsdorf (D), Chief Scientifi c Offi cer

•   Aron Braun, Berlin (D), Chief Operating Offi cer 

•   Christian Piepenbrock, Berlin (D), Chief Information Offi cer

•   Oliver Schacht, Ph.D., Seattle (U.S.A.), Chief Financial Offi cer

•   R. Gary Schweikhardt, Seattle (U.S.A.), Chief Executive Offi cer of Epigenomics, Inc.

Aron Braun resigned from the Company’s Executive Board as of October 31, 2005. Christian Piepenbrock took over the 

responsibilities as Chief Operating Offi cer since. R. Gary Schweikhardt retired from his position effective December 31, 2005.

The remuneration of the Executive Board of the Company comprises an annual fi xed compensation and a variable 

bonus that is oriented to the achievement of individual and collective targets. These targets are annually set by the Super-

visory Board. In addition, the Supervisory Board may grant options on shares of the Company to the Executive Board 

members.

In 2005, the total remuneration of the members of the Executive Board amounted to EUR 1,167 thousand (2004: 

EUR 933 thousand), comprising EUR 909 thousand in fi xed compensation (2004: 687 thousand), EUR 225 thousand in 

bonus payments (2004: 246 thousand) and EUR 33 thousand in other compensation, i.e. social security assumption and 

payments in lieu of vacation (2004: EUR 0). The retired Executive Board members Aron Braun and R. Gary Schweikhardt 

received individual undertakings by the Company for future remuneration (see “Information on other transactions with 

related parties”).

In 2005, no stock options were granted to members of the Executive Board and no stock options were exercised by 

them (for details see “Notes to the Stock Option Plans”). As of the reporting date, the members of the Executive Board held 

728,138 shares of the Company (Dec 31, 2004: 1,049,733 shares).

Members of the Supervisory Board of the Company during the reporting year were:

•   Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. Rolf Krebs, Mainz (D), Chairman

•   Bruce Carter, Ph.D., Seattle (U.S.A.), Deputy Chairman

•   John Berriman, Reading (GB)

•   Prof. Dr. Uwe Bicker, Bensheim-Auerbach (D) – since May 2, 2005

•   Dr. Ann Clare Kessler, Basel (CH) – since June 28, 2005

•   Dr. Jörg Neermann, Munich (D) – until April 9, 2005

•   Prof. Dr. Günther Reiter, Pfullingen (D) – since June 28, 2005

•   Dr. Michael Steinmetz, Boston (U.S.A.) – until April 9, 2005

•   Dr. Klaus Stöckemann, Berlin (D) – until January 14, 2005.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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In 2005, the total remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board amounted to EUR 116 thousand (2004: 

EUR 90 thousand).

The members of the Supervisory Board held no stock options of the Company during the reporting year. At the time 

of his retirement, Dr. Jörg Neermann held 1,000 shares of the Company.

Other financial obligations. Other fi nancial obligations arise for Epigenomics AG from a total of two leases at the 

Berlin and Seattle locations:

a)   For the Berlin location at Kleine Präsidentenstrasse there is a fi xed-term lease with term expiring on February 28, 2010. 

Until this date, a total rent of EUR 1,638 thousand (undiscounted) has to be paid.

b)   For the Seattle location there is a fi xed-term lease with term expiring on November 30, 2007. Until this date, a total rent 

of USD 865 thousand (undiscounted) has to be paid.

In the reporting period as well as in previous years, Epigenomics acquired numerous exclusive licenses to third-party 

patents. This means that there are some obligations to pay minimum licensing fees in years to come. Additionally, Epige-

nomics has the obligation to reimburse most of those third parties for costs incurred in connection with the maintenance 

and the prosecution of the licensed rights. Those costs are mainly charges for patent attorneys or offi ces and are hard 

to forecast regarding their amounts and their timing. The amount due to various licensors (including reimbursements for 

patent prosecution) stands at approximately EUR 700 – 800 thousand for the years 2006 and 2007. However, most of these 

agreements can be terminated at short notice by Epigenomics. There is only one case in which Epigenomics is under a fair-

ly long-term binding obligation. However, this obligation will not exceed an annual payment of EUR 25 thousand. 

If in the future Epigenomics were to generate product revenue with third parties, which was generated with the help of 

this licensed intellectual property, then in some cases license fees that are above and beyond and which correspond to a 

percentage of such revenue must be paid to the licensors. Consequently, the potential amount of the obligations is diffi cult 

to quantify, since the signifi cant share of the variable license fees is dependent on the type and composition of future rev-

enue.

Due to contracts with third parties, Epigenomics has payment obligations at the balance sheet date of EUR 45 thousand for 

services and goods to be received in 2006.
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Information on the auditor of the Company. Like in the previous years, UHY Deutschland AG had been chosen 

as the Company’s auditing fi rm for the fi nancial year 2005. A total amount of EUR 132 thousand has been expensed during 

the reporting year for miscellaneous services of this auditing fi rm for Epigenomics AG. Details are shown in the following 

table:

 

The costs disclosed for the annual audits are related to the audits on the individual fi nancial statements of Epige nomics AG 

according to German GAAP and the consolidated fi nancial statements for the Epigenomics Group. Other confi rmation 

services occurred in connection with granted projects and have been reimbursed by the sponsor. 

Statement of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of Epigenomics AG pursuant to Sec-
tion 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) with respect to the German Corporate 
Governance Code. Epigenomics AG complied with the recommendations of the “Government Commission German 

Corporate Governance Code”, which were published on July 4, 2003, in the electronic Federal Gazette (elektronischer 

Bundesanzeiger). Epigenomics AG is going to comply with the recommendations of the “Government Commission German 

Corporate Governance Code” (version of June 2, 2005), which were published on July 12, 2005, in the electronic Federal 

Gazette.

Information on other transactions with related parties. After his retirement as Chief Operating Offi cer of 

the Company effective October 31, 2005, Aron Braun is still receiving his previous monthly remuneration under certain 

conditions for a maximum of twelve months. The maximum amount of EUR 135 thousand that the Company could have 

to pay to Mr. Braun was expensed in 2005.

After his retirement as Chief Executive Offi cer of Epigenomics, Inc. effective December 31, 2005, R. Gary Schweikhardt 

is still receiving his previous monthly remuneration including social security payments until December 2006. The amount 

of EUR 214 thousand that the Company will pay to Mr. Schweikhardt was expensed in 2005.

During the reporting year, the Company recognized revenue from services for Epiontis GmbH, Berlin, in a total value 

of EUR 12 thousand. At balance sheet date, the Company held a minority stake in Epiontis. The managing director of Epiontis 

GmbH is Sven Olek, a brother of Epigenomics’ CEO Alexander Olek.

Information on material events after the end of the reporting period. For material non-adjusting events 

after the balance sheet date reference is made to the supplementary report of the consolidated management report 2005.

EUR thousand  2005

Expected costs for annual audit 2005  90

Critical review of quarterly fi nancial statements Q1 – Q3 2005  33

Annual audit 2004  4

Other confi rmation services  5

Total  132
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Auditor’s Report 
 ....................................................................................................................

We have audited the consolidated fi nancial statements prepared by the Epigenomics AG, Berlin, comprising the balance sheet, 

the income statement, statement of changes in equity, cash fl ow statement and the notes to the consolidated fi nancial state-

ments, together with the group management report for the business year from January 1 to December 31, 2005. The prepara-

tion of the consolidated fi nancial statements and the group management report in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 

EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. (paragraph) 1 HGB and supplemen-

tary provisions of the articles of incorporation are the responsibility of the parent company’s management. Our responsibility 

is to express an opinion on the consolidated fi nancial statements and on the group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated fi nancial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and German generally 

accepted standards for the audit of fi nancial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public 

Auditors in Germany) (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially 

affecting the presentation of the net assets, fi nancial position and results of operations in the consolidated fi nancial state-

ments in accordance with the applicable fi nancial reporting framework and in the group management report are detected 

with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and 

expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness 

of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated fi nancial 

statements and the group management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The 

audit includes assessing the annual fi nancial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of 

entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used and signifi cant estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated fi nancial statements and the group manage-

ment report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the fi ndings of our audit, the consolidated fi nancial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted 

by the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB and supplementary 

provisions of the articles of incorporation and give a true and fair view of the net assets, fi nancial position and results of 

operations of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The group management report is consistent with the 

consolidated fi nancial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents 

the opportunities and risks of future development.

Berlin, February 6, 2006

UHY Deutschland AG

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

 (Jasper) (Dr. Peters)

 Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüferin

 [German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]
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   2005 2004
   EUR EUR thousand

Total revenue  11,514,831.59 10,032

Revenue  9,848,160.63 8,163

Changes in inventories  – 106,444.80 106

Capitalized own services  14,491.75 213

Other operating income  1,758,624.01 1,549

Cost of materials  – 4,853,990.81 – 4,310

 Expenses for raw materials and supplies  –1,929,948.39 – 1,740

 Expenses for external services  – 2,924,042.42 –2,570

Payroll costs  – 6,553,568.11 – 6,312

 Wages and salaries  – 5,669,616.88 – 5,461

 Social security contributions and costs for old-age pensions and public aid  – 883,951.23 – 851

Depreciation and amortization  – 1,311,938.01 – 1,104

 on tangible and intangible assets  – 1,311,938.01 – 1,104

Other operating expenses  – 9,936,362.31 – 8,322

Other interest and similar income  1,453,900.74 1,158

 thereof from affi liated companies  251,803.70 233

Depreciation on marketable securities  – 1,062,922.90 0

Interest and similar expenses  – 146,604.99 –1,459

Result from ordinary business activities  – 10,896,654.80 – 10,316

Extraordinary expenses  – 1,300,000.00 – 4,370

Net loss for the year before taxes  – 12,196,654.80 – 14,687

Income taxes  0.00 0

Other taxes  0.00 0

Net loss for the year  – 12,196,654.80 – 14,687

Income Statement 2005 of Epigenomics AG 
according to German GAAP (HGB)
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Assets

   Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004
   EUR EUR thousand

Non-current assets  12,046,690.57 14,503

Intangible assets  2,539,596.91 2,891

 Licenses, trademarks and other property rights  2,539,596.91 2,891

Tangible assets  1,520,046.17 1,805

 Leasehold improvements  222,184.96 123

 Technical equipment and machinery  1,272,879.70 1,425

 Other equipment, furniture and fi xtures  24,981.51 29

 Advances and assets under construction  0.00 227

Financial assets  7,987,047.49 9,806

 Interests in affi liated companies  3,487,047.49 600

 Loans to affi liated companies  3,500,000.00 7,457

 Non-current securities  1,000,000.00 1,750

Current assets  34,675,432.00 42,008

Inventories  192,053.44 202

 Raw materials and supplies  192,053.44 96

 Finished goods  0.00 106

Receivables and other assets  2,314,766.97 2,350

 Trade accounts receivable  734,452.90 752

 Receivables due from affi liated companies  0.00 187

 Other current assets  1,580,314.07 1,411

Securities  26,486,969.35 37,016

 Other securities  26,486,969.35 37,016

Cash and cash equivalents  5,681,642.24 2,440

Deferred expenses  238,672.94 190

Total assets  46,960,795.51 56,700

Balance Sheet of Epigenomics AG 
according to German GAAP (HGB) as of December 31, 2005

Financial Statements in Accordance with German GAAP (HGB)
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Equity and liabilities

   Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2004
   EUR EUR thousand

Shareholders’ equity  39,825,621.30 51,740

Subscribed capital  16,403,178.00 16,334

Capital reserve  27,336,943.80 41,811

Other profi t reserves  8,282,154.30 8,282

Net loss for the year  – 12,196,654.80 – 14,687

Accruals and provisions  1,750,773.11 1,131

Accruals for claims of employees  412,487.91 438

Other accruals and provisions  1,338,285.20 693

Payables  3,216,459.88 643

Trade accounts payable  321,086.44 285

Payables due to silent partners  0.00 13

Payables due to affi liated companies  2,653,239.46 0

Other payables  242,133.98 345

Deferred income  2,167,941.22 3,187

Total equity and liabilities  46,960,795.51 56,700

Financial Statements in Accordance with German GAAP (HGB)
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Scientific Advisory Board
 ..........................................................................................................................................................

Dr. Stefan Beck 

The Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute 

Cambridge, U.K. 

Associate Prof. Susan Clark  

Sydney Cancer Centre 

Sydney, Australia

Prof. Dr. Manfred Dietel  

Charité 

Berlin, Germany

Prof. Andrew Feinberg  

Johns Hopkins University 

Baltimore, Maryland, U.S.A.

Dr. Jörg Hoheisel  

German Cancer Research Center 

Heidelberg, Germany

Dr. Rudolf Jaenisch  

Massachusetts Institute of Technology 

Cambridge, Massachusetts, U.S.A. 

Dr. Peter Jones 

USC Norris Cancer Center 

Los Angeles, California, U.S.A. 

Dr. Peter Laird  

USC Norris Cancer Center 

Los Angeles, California, U.S.A. 

Dr. Christoph Plass  

The Ohio State University 

Athens, Ohio, U.S.A. 

Dr. Wolf Reik 

The Babraham Institute 

Cambridge, U.K.

......................................................................................................................................................................

S C I E N T I F I C  C O N S U LTA N T S  A N D  C O - F O U N D E R S
......................................................................................................................................................................

Dr. Ivo Gut

Head of Technology Development 

Centre National de Génotypage, Paris, France

Expertise: mass spectometry

Prof. Jörn Walter

Head of Genetics Department 

Universität des Saarlandes, Saarbrücken, Germany

Expertise: DNA methylation

Disclaimer  This report contains certain forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, statements containing the words “expects”, “future”, 
“potential” and words of similar importance. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which 
may cause our actual results of operations, fi nancial condition, performance, or achievements, or industry results, to be materially different from any future 
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among others, the following: uncer-
tainties related to results of our clinical trials, the uncertainty of regulatory approval and commercial uncertainty, reimbursement and drug price uncer-
tainty, the absence of sales and marketing experience and limited manufacturing capabilities, attraction and retention of technologically skilled employees, 
dependence on licenses, patents and proprietary technology, dependence upon partners, future capital needs and the uncertainty of additional funding, 
risks of product liability and limitations of insurance, limitations of supplies, competition from other biopharmaceutical, chemical and pharmaceutical 
companies, environmental, health and safety matters, availability of licensing arrangements, currency fl uctuations, adverse changes in governmental rules 
and fi scal policies, civil unrest, acts of God, acts of war, and other factors referenced in this communication. Given these uncertainties, prospective inves-
tors and partners are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. We disclaim any obligation to update any such forward-
looking statements to refl ect future events or developments.

......................................................................................................................................................................



O
v

er
v

ie
w

 o
f 

th
e 

E
p

ig
en

o
m

ic
s 

G
ro

u
p

N
ew

sf
lo

w
 O

v
er

v
ie

w
 a

n
d

 G
lo

ss
ar

y

Glossary
 ................................................................

A
AACR. American Association of Cancer Research.

Amplification. Duplication.

Assay. Chemical reactions that allow the detec-
tion of substances in samples.

B
Bases. Chemical components of DNA: adenine 
(A), cytosine (C), guanine (G), thymine (T). 
Bound to the sugar-phosphate-backbone of 
DNA, they encode the genetic information 
(also see DNA).

Biomarker. Substances that are normally 
present in small amounts in the blood or other 
tissues and which can be used to show the 
presence of certain diseases.

C
Classification. The division into medically 
relevant subtypes, such as aggressive and non-
aggressive subclasses of tumors in oncology, 
once a disease has been positively identified.

D
Diagnostics. Diagnostics deals with the detec-
tion, monitoring and classification of diseases.

DNA (Desoxyribonucleic acid). The carrier 
of genetic information for all complex  organisms. 
DNA consists of four different bases bound to 
a sugar-phos phate backbone: adenine (A), cyto-
sine (C), guanine (G), thymine (T). The genetic 
information is encoded in the sequence of the 
four bases on the sugar-phosphate-backbone.

DNA methylation. DNA can be modified 
through natural chemical reactions, by which a 
methyl group binds to the base cytosine (mC). 
Methylation provides information on gene regu-
lation that is specific for cell types and diseases.

E
EGFR. Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor.

Endometriosis. Chronic disease affecting 
women, in which tissue similar to the mucous 
membrane of the uterus (endometrium) accu-
mulates in the alvus. This tissue can bleed and 
grow cyclically. Endometriosis may be con-
nected to heavy pains in the preabdomen and 
is one of the most common causes for infertility. 
Currently, the only accurate diagnostic method 
is surgery.

Epigenetics. Analysis of the essential mecha-
nisms which control gene activity. Describes the 
state and functioning of protein re gulatory fac-
tors, secondary modifications of these factors, 
the regulation of gene activity and the chemical 
modifications of DNA through methylation.

Epigenomics. The science and commercial 
exploitation of epigenetics.

Expression. Conversion into the structures 
present and operating in a cell.

G
Genome. The genome is the total DNA of a 
species. Since all the DNA is wrapped up in 
chromosomes, the number of chromosomes is 
characteristic for a species, for example, 23 in 
humans.

Genomics. The science and commercial exploi-
tation of genomes and the functions of genes.

H
HEP. Human Epigenome Project.

I
IDE. Investigational Device Exemption.

Indication. Reason for carrying out a medical 
examination or therapy.

In-vitro. In a test tube.

M
Molecular diagnostics. Diagnostics based on 
the knowledge of the human genome.

Monitoring. The tracing of recurrence or 
assessment of the progression of a disease.

mRNA. When a gene is turned on or expressed, 
it produces a copy in the form of a RNA (ribo-
nucleic acid) sequence called messenger RNA 
(“mRNA”) which is used as a template to direct 
the production of a protein.

Methylation. The attachment of a methyl 
group to DNA in the case of DNA methylation.

Microarray. Chip.

O
Oligonucleotides. Artificially generated 
sequence of bases.

Oncology. The study and treatment of tumors 
in the body.

OEM. Original Equipment Manufacturer.

P
Paraffin. A wax-like substance used to preserve 
tissue samples.

PCR. Polymerase Chain Reaction. Method to 
amplify DNA.

Pharmacodiagnostics. Analysis of the activity 
of specific genes with regard to drug efficacy 
and side effects.

Platform. One or more instruments or devices 
by means of which a test can be performed and 
the result analyzed.

S
Screening. The systematic and preventive 
examination of an asymptomatic population for 
early detection of disease.

Sensitivity. The measure of a test’s ability to 
accurately detect the presence of disease. For 
example, a sensitivity of 90 % means that out of 
100 patients which actually have a disease, on 
average 90 are correctly diagnosed.

Specificity. The measure of a test’s ability to 
exclude the possibility of a disease when it is 
truly not present. For example, a specificity of 
90 % means that out of 100 healthy people 
ten are falsely identified as having the disease.

T
Tamoxifen. Endocrine therapy drug adminis-
tered in the case of breast cancer.

Tamoxifen response test. Pharmacodi-
agnostic test to determine the probability of 
recurrence of breast cancer following Tamoxifen 
monotherapy.

Tumor. A mass of excess tissue that results from 
abnormal cell division.

V
Validation. Certain phase of product develop-
ment during which data is confirmed to a large 
extent.

 ........................................................................................................................................................

Newsflow Overview
 ...............................................................................................

2005

2006

H1/2006
Roche partnership decision
Data presentation at AACR

OEM agreement for platform and preanalytics
New offerings & new customers in SBU Clinical Solutions

January 4, 2006
Epigenomics successfully completes biomarker 

validation study for prostate cancer classification test 

December 19, 2005    
Epigenomics’ DNA methylation test successfully 

detects colorectal cancer in blood 

December 13, 2005  
Milestone and licensing decision on Tamoxifen 
response test postponed to end of January 2006

Oktober 31, 2005
Epigenomics reports Tamoxifen treatment 

response test study results inconclusive 

September 30, 2005
Epigenomics and Roche Diagnostics extend R&D 
collaboration agreement for minimum of six months

September 12, 2005
Epigenomics AG announces 

resignation of Aron Braun 

August 2, 2005
Epigenomics AG announces R. Gary Schweikhardt to retire 

May 17, 2005
Epigenomics AG validates DNA methylation test as 

predictor of disease recurrence in breast cancer patients 

May 2, 2005
Epigenomics AG and Qiagen enter into strategic 
collaboration in DNA methylation 

April 20, 2005
Epigenomics AG presents positive prognostic biomarker 
data from studies in prostate and breast cancer at AACR  

January 20, 2005
Epigenomics AG announces end 
of IPO lock-up period  

January 30, 2006
Epigenomics AG pursuing development of 
Tamoxifen response test  

H2/2006
Licensees of Epigenomics’ technology

2006 and later
Transferring markers onto Epigenomics’ platform 

Running concordance studies 
Submit IDE

January 4, 2006
Epigenomics AG adds regulatory affairs and marketing 
expertise to senior management 
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Glossary
 ................................................................

A
AACR. American Association of Cancer Research.

Amplification. Duplication.

Assay. Chemical reactions that allow the detec-
tion of substances in samples.

B
Bases. Chemical components of DNA: adenine 
(A), cytosine (C), guanine (G), thymine (T). 
Bound to the sugar-phosphate-backbone of 
DNA, they encode the genetic information 
(also see DNA).

Biomarker. Substances that are normally 
present in small amounts in the blood or other 
tissues and which can be used to show the 
presence of certain diseases.

C
Classification. The division into medically 
relevant subtypes, such as aggressive and non-
aggressive subclasses of tumors in oncology, 
once a disease has been positively identified.

D
Diagnostics. Diagnostics deals with the detec-
tion, monitoring and classification of diseases.

DNA (Desoxyribonucleic acid). The carrier 
of genetic information for all complex  organisms. 
DNA consists of four different bases bound to 
a sugar-phos phate backbone: adenine (A), cyto-
sine (C), guanine (G), thymine (T). The genetic 
information is encoded in the sequence of the 
four bases on the sugar-phosphate-backbone.

DNA methylation. DNA can be modified 
through natural chemical reactions, by which a 
methyl group binds to the base cytosine (mC). 
Methylation provides information on gene regu-
lation that is specific for cell types and diseases.

E
EGFR. Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor.

Endometriosis. Chronic disease affecting 
women, in which tissue similar to the mucous 
membrane of the uterus (endometrium) accu-
mulates in the alvus. This tissue can bleed and 
grow cyclically. Endometriosis may be con-
nected to heavy pains in the preabdomen and 
is one of the most common causes for infertility. 
Currently, the only accurate diagnostic method 
is surgery.

Epigenetics. Analysis of the essential mecha-
nisms which control gene activity. Describes the 
state and functioning of protein re gulatory fac-
tors, secondary modifications of these factors, 
the regulation of gene activity and the chemical 
modifications of DNA through methylation.

Epigenomics. The science and commercial 
exploitation of epigenetics.

Expression. Conversion into the structures 
present and operating in a cell.

G
Genome. The genome is the total DNA of a 
species. Since all the DNA is wrapped up in 
chromosomes, the number of chromosomes is 
characteristic for a species, for example, 23 in 
humans.

Genomics. The science and commercial exploi-
tation of genomes and the functions of genes.

H
HEP. Human Epigenome Project.

I
IDE. Investigational Device Exemption.

Indication. Reason for carrying out a medical 
examination or therapy.

In-vitro. In a test tube.

M
Molecular diagnostics. Diagnostics based on 
the knowledge of the human genome.

Monitoring. The tracing of recurrence or 
assessment of the progression of a disease.

mRNA. When a gene is turned on or expressed, 
it produces a copy in the form of a RNA (ribo-
nucleic acid) sequence called messenger RNA 
(“mRNA”) which is used as a template to direct 
the production of a protein.

Methylation. The attachment of a methyl 
group to DNA in the case of DNA methylation.

Microarray. Chip.

O
Oligonucleotides. Artificially generated 
sequence of bases.

Oncology. The study and treatment of tumors 
in the body.

OEM. Original Equipment Manufacturer.

P
Paraffin. A wax-like substance used to preserve 
tissue samples.

PCR. Polymerase Chain Reaction. Method to 
amplify DNA.

Pharmacodiagnostics. Analysis of the activity 
of specific genes with regard to drug efficacy 
and side effects.

Platform. One or more instruments or devices 
by means of which a test can be performed and 
the result analyzed.

S
Screening. The systematic and preventive 
examination of an asymptomatic population for 
early detection of disease.

Sensitivity. The measure of a test’s ability to 
accurately detect the presence of disease. For 
example, a sensitivity of 90 % means that out of 
100 patients which actually have a disease, on 
average 90 are correctly diagnosed.

Specificity. The measure of a test’s ability to 
exclude the possibility of a disease when it is 
truly not present. For example, a specificity of 
90 % means that out of 100 healthy people 
ten are falsely identified as having the disease.

T
Tamoxifen. Endocrine therapy drug adminis-
tered in the case of breast cancer.

Tamoxifen response test. Pharmacodi-
agnostic test to determine the probability of 
recurrence of breast cancer following Tamoxifen 
monotherapy.

Tumor. A mass of excess tissue that results from 
abnormal cell division.

V
Validation. Certain phase of product develop-
ment during which data is confirmed to a large 
extent.
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2005

2006

H1/2006
Roche partnership decision
Data presentation at AACR

OEM agreement for platform and preanalytics
New offerings & new customers in SBU Clinical Solutions

January 4, 2006
Epigenomics successfully completes biomarker 

validation study for prostate cancer classification test 

December 19, 2005    
Epigenomics’ DNA methylation test successfully 

detects colorectal cancer in blood 

December 13, 2005  
Milestone and licensing decision on Tamoxifen 
response test postponed to end of January 2006

Oktober 31, 2005
Epigenomics reports Tamoxifen treatment 

response test study results inconclusive 

September 30, 2005
Epigenomics and Roche Diagnostics extend R&D 
collaboration agreement for minimum of six months

September 12, 2005
Epigenomics AG announces 

resignation of Aron Braun 

August 2, 2005
Epigenomics AG announces R. Gary Schweikhardt to retire 

May 17, 2005
Epigenomics AG validates DNA methylation test as 

predictor of disease recurrence in breast cancer patients 

May 2, 2005
Epigenomics AG and Qiagen enter into strategic 
collaboration in DNA methylation 

April 20, 2005
Epigenomics AG presents positive prognostic biomarker 
data from studies in prostate and breast cancer at AACR  

January 20, 2005
Epigenomics AG announces end 
of IPO lock-up period  

January 30, 2006
Epigenomics AG pursuing development of 
Tamoxifen response test  

H2/2006
Licensees of Epigenomics’ technology

2006 and later
Transferring markers onto Epigenomics’ platform 

Running concordance studies 
Submit IDE

January 4, 2006
Epigenomics AG adds regulatory affairs and marketing 
expertise to senior management 
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